# RAPORTTEJA RAPPORTER REPORTS

No. 2013:2

711 69.02.024 330.5.057.7

# Cost-benefit analysis of green roofs in urban areas: case study in Helsinki

Väinö Nurmi<sup>1</sup> Athanasios Votsis<sup>1</sup> Adriaan Perrels<sup>1</sup> Susanna Lehvävirta<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Finnish Meteorological Institute
 <sup>2</sup> Finnish Museum of Natural History, University of Helsinki

Ilmatieteen laitos Meteorologiska Institutet Finnish Meteorological Institute

Helsinki 2013

ISBN 978-951-697-787-7 (nid.) ISBN 978-951-697-788-4 (pdf) ISSN 0782-6079

> Unigrafia Helsinki 2013



Published by	Finnish Meteorological Institute (Erik Palménin aukio 1), P.O. Box 503	Series Report	Series title, number and report code Reports 2013:2		
	FI-00101 Helsinki, Finland	Date	2013		
Author(s)	r(s) Väinö Nurmi, Athanasios Votsis, Adriaan Perrels and Susanna Lehvävirta				
Title	Cost-benefit analysis of green roofs in urban a	reas: case stud	y in Helsinki		
Abstract					

This report presents a green roof cost-benefit analysis. Green roofs are roofs that are partially (or almost completely) covered with vegetation; between the roofing membrane and the vegetation there may be several technical layers. In this report we discuss the benefits and costs of lightweight self-sustaining vegetated roofs that do not require structural modifications from the building. The costs and benefits have been analysed in Helsinki, Finland.

Green roofs offer various kinds of ecosystem services that are often scarce especially urban areas. These services accrue benefits to urbanites. However, ecosystem services do not generally have a market price, thus we had to use ecosystem valuation methods to estimate the benefits. Based on the valuation, the most significant benefits were: an increased lifespan of the roof, energy savings due to increased isolation and cooling, improved storm-water management, better air-quality and sound insulation especially in the air craft noise zones. In addition, other potentially significant benefits include aesthetic benefits, health benefits and improved biodiversity.

Only a share of the green roof benefits accrues to the owner of the property while other benefits are distributed among the population of a larger area. Thus, benefits can be classified into private and public benefits. In the cost-benefit analysis we found that private benefits are in most cases not high enough to justify the expensive investment of a green roof instalment since the costs are incurred solely by the private decision makers (e.g. developers, real estate buyers). The cost estimates are based on supplier interviews and the additional costs of green roof were compared to a reference bitumen roof.

The cost-benefit calculations hint that with a higher rate of implementation and realization of public benefits, the green roofs would be a good investment. However, because the private benefits are not high enough to justify a green-roof installation for a private decision-maker at the current cost level, the rate of implementation can be expected to stay low without corrective policy instruments. Policy instruments could include supportive policies that add incentives for private decision-makers to install green roofs and/or administrative orders.

Publishing unit ILM

Classification (UDK) 711, 69.02.024, 330.5.057.7 Keywords urban green, green roofs, storm-water management, ecosystem services, economics of green roofs

ISSN and series title 0782-6079 Reports ISBN 978-951-697-787-7 978-951-697-788-4 (pdf)

Language English

Pages 58



Julkaisun sarja, numero ja raporttikoodi Raportteja 2013:2

Julkaisija	Ilmatieteen laitos, (Erik Palménin aukio 1) PL 503, 00101 Helsinki	Julkaisuaika	2013
Tekijä(t)	Väinö Nurmi, Athanasios Votsis, Adriaan Perre	els ja Susanna I	Lehvävirta
Nimeke	Viherkattojen kustannushyötyanalyysi Helsingi	n kaupunkiolos	suhteissa

#### Tiivistelmä

Raportissa esitetään viherkattojen kustannus-hyötyanalyysi. Viherkatoiksi kutsutaan yleisesti sellaisia kattoja, joiden päälle on istutettu kasvillisuutta; kattopinnan ja kasvillisuuden välissä on lisäksi useita erilaisia teknisiä kerroksia. Tutkimuksessa keskityttiin kevyisiin ja helppohoitoisiin viherkattoihin, joiden asentamiseen ei yleensä vaadita rakenteellisia muutoksia. Kustannuksia ja hyötyjä on arvioitu Helsingin kaupunkiolosuhteissa.

Viherkatot tarjoavat erilaisia ekosysteemipalveluita, joista voi olla varsinkin kaupunkiolosuhteissa niukkuutta. Näistä palveluista saadaan erilaisia hyötyjä kaupungin asukkaille. Hyödyille ei ole olemassa markkinahintaa, joten arvioimme hyötyjä ekosysteemipalveluiden arvottamismenetelmien avulla. Arvioimistamme hyödyistä merkittävimmät olivat kattopinnan pidentynyt käyttöikä, energiansäästö paremman eristävyyden ja viilentävän vaikutuksen ansiosta, hulevesien imeytyminen ja hulevesipiikkien hallinta, ilmanlaadun parantuminen ja äänieristävyys lentomelualueilla. Näiden lisäksi merkittäviä hyötyjä ovat myös esteettiset hyödyt, viherympäristön luomat terveyshyödyt ja parantunut biodiversiteetti.

Ekosysteemipalvelut hyödyttävät joiltain osin viherkattojen rakennuttajaa, asukasta tai kiinteistön omistajaa ja joiltain osin laajempaa joukkoa. Viherkattojen hyödyt voidaankin jakaa rakennuksen omistajan tai asukkaan hyötyihin (yksityiset hyödyt) ja koko yhteisön hyötyihin (julkiset hyödyt). Havaitsimme, että yksityiset hyödyt eivät ole monessa tapauksessa tarpeeksi suuret perustelemaan kallista alkuinvestointia. Alkuinvestoinnin eli viherkaton kustannukset selvitimme kattavalla viherkattojen toimittajien haastattelukierroksella, jossa selvitimme yleisimmin tarjolla olevan esikasvatettuihin maksaruohomattoihin perustuvan viherkaton hinnan verrattuna referenssikattoon eli bitumikattoon.

Mikäli koko yhteisön saavuttamat hyödyt lasketaan mukaan, viherkatot voivat varsinkin tiheästi rakennetuilla alueilla olla kannattava investointi koko yhteisön kannalta. Koska yksityisten päätöksentekijöiden kustannukset ovat usein suuremmat kuin hyödyt, jää viherkattojen käyttöönottoaste luultavasti hyvin pieneksi. Tästä syystä erilaisten kannustimien kehittäminen varsinkin kantakaupungin alueella voisi olla järkevää.

Julkaisijayksikkö ILM

Luokitus (UDK) 711, 69.02.024 330.5.057.7 Asiasanat: viherkatot, kustannushyötyanalyysi ekosysteemipalveluiden arvottaminen

ISSN ja avainnimike 0782-6079 Raportteja ISBN 978-951-697-787-7 978-951-697-788-4 (pdf)

Kieli englanti Sivumäärä 58

## **Table of Contents**

1 INTRODUCTION	7
2 ECOSYSTEM SERVICES IN URBAN AREAS	9
2.1 Introduction – The rise of ecosystem services in new concepts of sustainable	
urban planning	9
2.2 Ecosystem services provided by green roofs	12
2.3 Private and public benefits	19
3 VALUING ECOSYSTEM SERVICES	21
3.1 Valuation methods	22
3.2 The preferred valuation method	24
3.3 Net present value	24
4 THE VALUE OF BENEFITS OF GREEN ROOFS	26
4.1 Membrane longevity	26
4.2 Storm-water management	26
4.3 Scenic and health benefits	31
4.4 Energy savings	33
4.5 Increased urban biodiversity	35
4.6 Noise insulation	36
4.7 Emission regulation	37
5 COSTS OF GREEN ROOFS	39
5.1 Cost estimates from Finland, industry survey	39
5.2 Economies of scale and increased competition	40
6 GREEN ROOF COST-BENEFIT ASSESSMENTS	41
6.1 A single roof-top-installation	41
6.2 50% implementation infrastructure scenario	42
7 CONCLUSIONS	45
ACKNOWLEGMENTS	48
REFERENCES	49

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

This report discusses the economic benefits and costs of thin, lightweight green roofs with minimal maintenance requirements. In general, green roofs are roofs that are partially or (almost) completely covered with vegetation. Between the roofing membrane and the vegetation there may be several technical layers such as a root barrier, drainage and water retention layers and substrate. There are different types of green roofs depending on the choice of vegetation, the water retention capacity, the thickness and quality of the substrate layer and the intensity of maintenance. In this study, we focus on the benefits and costs of lightweight self-sustaining vegetated roofs in an urban system and emphasize that the values can be essentially different for different kinds of green roofs in different systems. Most of the methods applied in this study can however be applied to similar studies with different settings. The urban system we focus on is Helsinki, the capital and the largest city of Finland. It is located in southern Finland, on the shore of the Gulf of Finland. Helsinki has a population of over 600,000, with a metropolitan population of over 1.1 million, making it by far the most populous municipality and urban area in Finland.

Because most of the potential benefits of green roofs are not directly measureable in economic terms, we have to use valuation methods developed for the conversion of different types of benefits of ecosystem services (ES) into commensurable (monetary) units. Many of the benefits such as improved biodiversity are intangible and hard to valuate. For this reason, various benefits of ES are often neglected in cost-benefit analysis of green roofs. In this study, we try to overcome these problems and arrive at an estimate of the benefit/cost –ratio (B/C-ratio) under different green roof infrastructure scenarios. An extensive literature search and expert interviews showed that – at least preliminary – estimates can be found for most benefits of those ES that are relevant for green roofs. These estimates can be easily updated to be coherent with the research on the actual green roof performance in Helsinki when more empirical evidence is available.

The study also deals with the dichotomy between predominantly public benefits and private costs. Green roofs generate a great deal of public (shared) benefits, while without additional policies their costs are private, i.e. mainly carried by the involved real estate owners. Without corrective policy instruments, this dichotomy normally leads to an undersupply of green roofs and consequently a lower level of implementation than what is optimal from socio-economic viewpoint. We also show that, precipitation, outdoor temperature and level of urbanization are all positively correlated with the value of ES provided by green roofs, and thus the location of the green roof is an important determinant of the potential value.

This report is part of a research program called Fifth Dimension – Green Roofs in Urban Areas which is carried out by Urban Ecology Research Group at the University of Helsinki and funded by Regional Council of Uusimaa. The study also ties in with research carried out in the RECAST project (part of the FICCA programme of the Finnish Academy) and in ENSURE (research programme coordinated by HENVI) regarding sustainable urban planning and climate change resilient cities.

# **2 ECOSYSTEM SERVICES IN URBAN AREAS**

# 2.1 Introduction – The rise of ecosystem services in new concepts of sustainable urban planning

Cities and urban systems are dependent on ecosystems existing both beyond and within the city limits. Bolund and Hunhammar (1999) identified seven types of different urban ecosystems: street trees, lawns/parks, urban forests, cultivated land, wetlands, lakes/sea and streams. Within urban areas, the primary issue from the perspective of human well-being is whether the urban settlements are able to provide a healthy and satisfying living environment for residents. Living ecosystems are recognized as a key to well-being as ecosystem services are increasingly acknowledged to increase the quality of life for urbanites e.g. by improving air quality, reducing noise and providing recreational services (see e.g. Niemelä et al., 2010). Many problems that are present in urban areas are locally generated and often the only or the most effective way to deal with these local problems is through local solutions. These local problems include for example poor air quality, heat island effect and urban flooding. Climate change is expected to further increase some of these problems (Bolund and Hunhammar, 1999).

Ecosystems provide services that can tackle some of the problems caused by urbanization - or rather the local undersupply of various ecosystem services that is at the root of the problem. Roofs represent a large share of the horizontal surface of built-up areas, but the roof area has scarcely been capitalized on. The addition of vegetation and the growing substrate on roof surfaces creates an ecosystem that provides services. These ES can mitigate several negative externalities (costs for the third party such as air pollution) of built-up areas and can reduce the energy consumption of the buildings (Oberndorfer et al., 2007). Green roofs represent an opportunity to increase the coverage of living ecosystems in cities. However, the extent on which green roofs can be justified to compensate for the ground-level ecosystems and the extent on which green roofs serve as a complementary solution needs to be studied, as their structure and many functions differ profoundly from ground-level ecosystems. Ecosystem services have been categorized in a number of different ways. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment popularized the concept, thus the classification used most often is from the final report of MEA (MEA, 2005). In this study, the ES were grouped into four broad categories: 1) provisioning, 2) regulating, 3) cultural and 4) supporting function, bearing in mind that some of the categories overlap. In their widely cited article Costanza et al. (1997) identified 17 groups of ES and de Groot et al. (2002) extended the list to 23 main services (that they called functions). Some of these services have a major importance in urban areas including at least emissions regulation, microclimate regulation, noise disturbance prevention, water regulation, waste treatment, aesthetics and educational benefits.

Once the functions of a specific ecosystem are known, the nature of the benefit and its potential value to human society can be estimated through the goods and services provided by the functional aspects of the ecosystem (de Groot et al., 2002). Green roofs for example provide ES that include improved storm-water management, regulation of building temperatures, reduced urban heat-island effect, aesthetic and health benefits and increased urban wildlife. How beneficial a certain service is depends not only on the service but also on the system where it is located. For example storm-water management provided by a green roof can be highly beneficial in a city with a high level of precipitation and a high proportion of impermeable surfaces; naturally the benefits vary within cities as well. The ES provided by green roofs derive from the three main components of the roof system: vegetation, substrate (growing medium) and the membranes under them (affecting the water retention capacity, cooling effect, biodiversity value etc.).

The existence of cities is based on concentration and agglomeration advantages. This means that the proximity of various producers and consumers creates common advantages in production and consumption as comparison to a dispersed settlement pattern. With all agglomeration factors present, a more dynamic set of agglomeration advantages emerges, which can lead to further accumulation of population and economic activity. As a consequence at least in some parts of the urban area the productivity per acre gets so high that it also significantly pushes up land prices and hence real estate prices. Consequently, a process of selective expulsion (from economic core areas) starts up. In turn this implies that, in the absence of further measures, the city starts to expand over an ever larger area and to show more spatial segregation in functions. Depending on landscape, climate, hydrology, economic structure, and urban form all kinds of environmental external effects may occur in such an expanding city, e.g. pollution of the air, soils, and water, as well as noise and degradation of natural habitats.

From a socio-economic viewpoint, a sustainable city requires sufficient maintaining of agglomeration advantages on which the existence of the city is based (see Glaeser, 2010; Söderman et al., 2011). The concentration of and the proximity of various producers and consumers creates common advantages in comparison to a dispersed settlement pattern. If many favorable factors are present a more dynamic set of agglomeration advantages emerges, which can lead to further accumulation of population and economic activity. In expanding and consolidating urban areas, diverse environmental external effects occur, e.g. pollution of the air, soils, and water, as well as noise and fragmentation and degradation of natural habitats, and productivity of ecosystem services per area is very likely to decrease. However, this decrease has until recently been overlooked or at least the consequent substitution solutions have been planned with little consideration of the lost value of ecosystem services.

The rise in attention to ecosystem services in urban environments ties in with the need of revising the concepts of sustainable urban planning. Sustainable urban development tended to emphasize higher building densities as a central paradigm (Newman and Kenworthy 1999, 2007). The underpinning has leaned mostly on minimized distances and urban metabolism approaches (Carlsson-Kanyama et al., 2005) based on impacts related to material consumption by urban dwellers (Rees and Wackernagel, 1996). In this paradigm, urban areas are primarily understood as social-economic-technical systems, for which environmental conditions (e.g. air quality) can be relevant to enable good socio-economic conditions or – in less formalised terms – to enable attractive and healthy living environments. The significance of urban green can be taken into account but is often only assessed in terms of its amenity value (e.g. Cho et al., 2008), not in terms of all the services it could provide.

The valuation of ecosystem services requires an interdisciplinary approach, but so far the integration of social, economic, ecological and engineering theories and methods has been meager (MEA, 2005). Furthermore, research results have seldom offered feasible guidelines for urban planning. Thus studies on urban biota, and the benefits and values it provides for humans, are often ignored in planning and management (Yli-Pelkonen and Niemelä, 2006). At the same time, urban planning has been criticized for neglecting the social space, the lived and experienced city (Lehtovuori, 2009), yet residents' experiencing their environment is a key process in the identification of cultural ecosystem services such as opportunities for recreation, learning, aesthetic enjoyment and health benefits. Resident experiences, attitudes, values and understanding also affect

the implementation of ecologically sustainable solutions, making it important to understand the acceptability of possible solutions beforehand.

Finally, while the sustainability of ecosystem services in urban areas depends on biological boundary values for ecosystem functioning, and interactions between ecosystem services, it also depends on the interplay of these services with urban economic functions. The rising interest for valuation of ecosystem services in urban planning and management is reinforced by the need to better prepare for natural hazards exacerbated by climate change. This acknowledgement has boosted a widely shared interest in the resilience of social and natural systems, including cities (Walker et al., 2004), and sustainable urban development will be increasingly based on the notions of resilience. The challenge is, however, that there are trade-offs between different ecosystem services and their interaction with the economic system. For example, increasing the share of urban green in the entire city could improve air quality, the inhabitants' living environment, and storm water retention (and hence attenuate flooding risks). Yet, for a given population size, a higher share of green area may mean an expansion of the total urban area, which inter alia would increase emissions from transport, or – under strict regulation – could lead to higher densities outside green areas, which may have major impacts on real estate costs (Cho et al., 2010; Conway et al., 2010). With these trade-offs in mind the addition of green roofs to the green infrastructure portfolio is promising, as green roofs can raise the supply of ecosystem services while avoiding the negative effects of lowering densities. When applied at a notable scale, there may even be positive spatial spillover effects, but the assessment of that effect goes well beyond the remit of the current study. All in all it means that a societal cost-benefit analysis of green roofs, as a facilitator of various ecosystem services, can be carried out as a comparison between alternative roof solutions (e.g. conventional, solar and wind energy oriented, and a green roof), i.e. substituting purely manmade solutions by a mixture of ecosystem services and some engineering.

#### 2.2 Ecosystem services provided by green roofs

#### Storm-water management

Urban areas largely consist of hard, impervious surfaces of streets, driveways and buildings. These conditions create problems as nonporous surfaces greatly intensify storm-water runoff, diminish groundwater recharge and enhance stream channel and river erosion (Mentens et al., 2005). One of the major environmental problems in urban areas is that hydrological systems have to cope with

highly fluctuating amount of surface runoff water. Climate change will further increase these problems at least in the northern Europe where both the amount of precipitation and the number of extreme precipitation events are expected to increase in the future (Jylhä et al., 2009). Consequently, also the risks of city floods are going to increase significantly. When heavy runoff overburdens existing storm-water management facilities, it can cause (besides city flooding) also combined sewage overflow into the lakes and rivers. Combined sewage overflows (CSO) occur when sewage and storm water are discharged from sewer pipes without treatment. Urban runoff that is high in pollutants harms wildlife habitats and contaminates drinking water reserves. CSOs are a significant source of environmental pollution in urban areas (Rosenzweig et al., 2006). To be able to cope with increased amount of urban runoff (due to both increased urbanization and climate change impacts), storm water management has to be resized according to the increased levels of precipitation. However, resizing sewage systems usually comes at a high cost (analyzed in Chapter 4.2.), thus other ways to manage water flows may be more cost-effective.

During heavy rainfall in cities, the amount of surface water may increase up to ten or twenty-fold compared to a normal situation. Underground storage tanks are one example of an engineering approach that stores overflows for later introduction to the sewer system. Another approach is to use vegetated surfaces such as green roofs as an alternative or a complementary solution to other available storm-water management measures. Green roofs store water during rainfall events, delay runoff and return precipitation to the atmosphere through evapotranspiration (reviewed in Oberndorfer et al., 2007). The reduction of runoff consists of:

- the delay of the initial time of runoff due to the absorption of water in the green roof system;
- (ii) reduction in the total runoff by retaining part of the rainfall; and
- (iii) distribution of the runoff over a longer time period through a delayed release of excess water (Mentens et al., 2005).

The annual rainfall-runoff ratio for green roofs is strongly determined by the depth of the substrate layer, roof slope and type of vegetation. Results from Berlin suggest that light-weight (<100 mm substrate) low-growth roof greening on just 10% of the buildings would already result in a runoff reduction of 2.7% for the region and of 54% for the individual buildings (Mentens et al., 2006). In another study, simulations from New York showed that thin, lightweight green roofs planted with sedums could reduce the annual storm water runoff at the sewage shed level by as much as 10%

with 50% green roof infrastructure, while a 10% green roof infrastructure produced a 2% reduction in total runoff (Rosenzweig et al., 2006).

#### **Membrane longevity**

Green roofs extend the lifespan of the roofing membrane by protecting against thermal stress, diurnal fluctuations and UV radiation. The exposure of the roof materials causes breakdowns of the roof materials. Most studies indicate that green roofs at least double the lifespan of the roofing membrane to 40 or 50 years, while literature estimates for non-vegetated roof longevity ranged from 10 to 30 years (reviewed in Toronto Region Conversation, 2007 and Oberndorfer et al., 2007). Thus, although green roofs in Finland are twice as expensive to install (or even more if the implementation rate remains very low, as will be shown in Chapter 5.), most studies indicate that the service life of the roof will be at least doubled.

#### Noise insulation

Noise pollution is an increasingly severe problem in urban systems. Noise disturbs people and causes economic problems through decreased efficiency amongst employees as well as lowered property values due to less demand. Over 170 million people in the EU are estimated to live in areas where noise is a source of irritation. About 80 million people, or 20% of the European population, are exposed to noise levels that are unacceptable. The effects of exposure include irritation, sleep disturbances and other risks for negative health impacts (Lagström, 2004). Over 300,000 people in Uusimaa (the province where Helsinki is located) are exposed to daily noise levels above Lden > 55 dB (a common threshold for noise exposure in residential areas; threshold values can be found at the website of Finland's environmental administration). Road transportation is the major cause for noise exposure, while air traffic causes noise exposure to at least 14,000 inhabitants (Finland's environmental administration, 2012).

To improve the noise insulation properties of a building, green roofs can be used to increase the transmission loss of the roof. Based on a field study in Canada (Connelly and Hodgson, 2008) light-weight green roofs (substrate depth 40-150mm, drought-tolerant plants) provide a higher transmission loss than an additional ceiling element albeit the design of the hypothetical ceiling element was not specified in the study. However, this property is specifically desirable in residential occupancies that are near highways or are located below aircraft flight paths. Transmission losses

were found to increase from 5 to 13 dB on low and mid frequency rate (below 2000 Hz) and from 2 to 8 dB in higher (over 2000 Hz) frequency rates.

Lagström (2004) studied the sound insulation properties of moss-sedum green roofs. He estimated the costs of disturbing noise levels in Europe: a conservative estimate is that noise leads to an annual cost of approximately 10 billion euros in Europe each year. However, the exact method of valuation of the costs is not properly explained. Lagström's study shows that moss-sedum vegetation and the layers below it decrease noise levels by 5 to as much as 25 dB, depending on the frequency of the noise, with an average of around 10 dB. This is in the same order of magnitude as found by Connelly and Hodgson (2008).

#### **Building heat regulation**

During warm weather, green roofs reduce the amount of heat transferred through the roof thereby lowering the energy demand of the cooling system of the building (Connelly and Baskaran, 2003). Green roofs reduce heat flux through the roof via evapotranspiration, by physically shading the roof and by increasing the insulation and thermal mass. Green roof impact on energy demand for cooling is a difficult parameter to estimate because it is highly dependent on the building type, the ratio between roof and floor areas, geographical location and type of vegetation. The benefit is naturally increased in warmer environments and in buildings with poor insulation but may again decrease in hot arid areas with scarcity of water. Thus, the aggregate cooling demand depends on building type, location and use, among other factors (Rosenzweig et al., 2006).

A report about energy savings of a light-weight green roof with succulent drought resistant plants (sedum, cactus and desert shrub) in Madrid (Saiz et al., 2006) showed that a green roof reduced the energy used for cooling by approximately 10% for the entire building and by 25%, 9%, 2% and 1% for the four consecutive floors directly below the green roof, as compared to a gray gravel roof. A field study in Vancouver (Connelly and Liu, 2005) compared the heat flows of two green roofs (one with 75mm growing medium with sedums and a one with 150mm growing medium with grass) to a bitumen reference roof over a 30-day observation period in British Columbia in October 2004. During the observation period, both green roofs reduced the heat flow of the roof over 70% compared to the reference roof (with no significant difference between the test roofs).

Green roofs also increase the insulation properties of a roof. However, new buildings in Finland that are built according to the current building regulations are already by default very well insulated. Thus, the isolative benefit of installing a green roof is much higher for older buildings than for new ones. In Chapter 3.4, we show a method of converting the improved insulation properties into a monetary benefit.

#### **Microclimate regulation**

In urban environments, vegetation has largely been replaced by impervious and often dark surfaces. These conditions contribute to an urban heat island effect, wherein urban regions are significantly warmer than the surrounding suburban and rural areas, especially at nighttime (first discovered by Howard 1818; more specifically Oke, 1973). A simulation in New York (Rosenzweig et al., 2006) showed results that green roof infrastructure (50% of roof area covered with vegetation) could reduce average surface temperatures in New York City by as much as 0.8 °C.

Drebs (2011) studied the heat-island-effect in Helsinki. He found out that 1) the city center of Helsinki is warmer than its surroundings, both on a monthly basis, and for the annual mean; however, there are only a few grid points which display a temperature difference of more than 1 °C; 2) if the monthly spatial variation in air temperature differences is small, then usually the temperature difference between the city and the surroundings is also small; and 3) isolated large buildings and suburban centers create their own individual heat islands. The value of the benefits and harms of the heat-island-effect in Helsinki has not been estimated or even qualitatively listed. Some impacts are positive (such as reduced energy demand in the winter) and some negative (increased mortality during heat waves is shown by Ruuhela et al., 2012). Thus, green roofs' potential value as a reducer of the heat-island-effect is not included in the cost-benefit calculation, because reliable estimates for the scope of different benefits and harms are not available.

In architectural design and site planning, Givoni (1998) provides a considerable amount of evidence and design recommendations for effectively regulating microclimate inside and around a building by the use of vegetation.

#### **Emission regulation**

Individual lightweight green roofs are low in biomass and thus have only a small potential to offset carbon emissions from cities. However, a widely adopted green roof infrastructure could make a significant contribution as an urban emissions (and particle) regulator, thus having an impact on the air quality of urban systems. Clark et al. (2008) suggest that green roofs could work well to the mitigation of nitrogen oxide, and they estimated that the uptake potential of NO<sub>2</sub>, for a lightweight green roof (with a substrate of 5-15 cm) would be  $0.27 \frac{\text{kgNO}_2}{\text{y m}^2}$ . Clark et al. (2008) pointed out, however, that as the estimate is on data from greenhouses, further research is needed to understand the performance on the roof and species specific uptake potential. Tan and Sia (2005) provided estimates for the gas uptake potential of lightweight green roofs in Toronto and Yang et al. (2008) for a mix of different kinds of green roofs (63% short grass and other low growing plants, 14% large herbaceous plants, 11% trees and shrubs, and about 12% various structures and hard surface) in Chicago. These studies show, that next to nitrogen dioxide NO<sub>2</sub>, green roofs can also reduce the concentrations of ozone O<sub>3</sub>, particulate matter PM<sub>x</sub> and sulfur dioxide SO<sub>2</sub>.

#### Aesthetic and psychological benefits

Green roofs provide aesthetic and psychological benefits for people in urban areas. A well-known article by Hartig et al. (1991) proved that experience with nature has restorative outcomes; greater levels of happiness were recorded still three weeks after the experience. Even a short-term exposure to green spaces was found to have salutary effects on people. Yet more interesting, the study showed that restorative effects can be realized in a wide range of natural settings which include urban parks and urban wilderness areas. However, these benefits are among those that are the hardest to valuate. For the Finnish context, Hauru et al. (2012) showed the positive effects of partially or completely hiding direct views to the urban matrix by the use of urban green, and it inspires a hypothesis that green roofs may also have such effects.

Urban green has been found to positively affect property prices in smaller towns in Finland (Tyrväinen, 1997 for Joensuu; Tyrväinen and Mietinen, 2000 for Salo). This effect is composite and highly dependent on the context (e.g. location within the city, presence/absence of several other urban economic factors), but it nevertheless reflects in part the positive aesthetic and psychological value of urban green and it is reasonable to extend it to green roofs that are physically or visually accessible.

From a design perspective where the aesthetic dimension is an important factor, the use of natural elements is frequently recommended in architectural and planning guidelines as a necessary element of sound urban design, both inside and outside the sustainable development context (e.g. Hedman and Jaszewski, 1984; the LEED and Earthcraft design standards). Historically, urban green has been at the core of significant planning movements such as the City Beautiful movement, Ebenezer Howard's Garden City, and Frank Lloyd Wright's conception of the ideal city, which all reacted to the mode of life in a highly industrialized and polluted built environment (Hall, 2002; Fishman, 2003). Green roofs and the natural landscape have been a frequent element in Friedensreich Hundertwasser's architectural and urban design projects.

#### Urban habitat

Green roofs provide habitat for wild species within cities and can help increase local biological diversity. However, creation of habitat is seen usually only as a bonus to more quantifiable benefits. As a response, incentives and regulations for designing vegetated roofs with biodiversity goals have been implemented at least Switzerland and England (Coffman and Waite, 2011). To quantify the increase in biodiversity is not easy and the methods vary between different studies. Most of the studies show promising results as an increase in urban biodiversity.

Köhler (2006) studied two dry-meadow green roofs with 10 cm substrate in Berlin over twenty years and found a relatively wide range of flora (in total 110 vascular plant species, 7% of those that had been observed on the region). Another study in Basel (where green roofs are mandatory for flat roofs) found that a single green roof supported 79 beetle and 40 spider species of which 20 species were endangered. Brenneisen (2006) concluded that low-maintenance green roofs provide suitable habitat for those animal and plant species that are able to adapt to such conditions and are mobile enough to reach the habitats on the roofs. A study in London (Kadas, 2006) observed a high abundance of invertebrates on the roofs. At least 10% of the species collected at the study sites were designated nationally rare or scarce. Another kind of example can be found in England where green roofs have been designed to mimic the conditions found on the derelict sites favored by the black redstart which is a rare species of bird in the U.K. (Grant, 2006). In a more recent study, Coffman and Waite (2011) observed a high diversity of three taxa: insects, spiders, and birds on two separate green roofs (one with sedums and no higher than 7.6cm and one with installed container-grown nursery plants with depth between 30 cm – 60 cm). Even though both of the roofs were abundant with small species, the degree of similarity between the roofs was low. It was also found that even

systems constructed without conservation objectives contained wild species of insects, spiders, and birds. Coffman and Waite (2011) used methods called a *rapid assessment method* and *Rényi entropy equation* for quantifying diversity and to allow comparison between different sites. These methods are of interest as efforts to quantify the biodiversity benefits and thus made them more comparable across studies.

#### 2.3 Private and public benefits

Generally, only a part of the benefits of ecosystem services accrues to the owner of the property where the considered (section of the) ecosystem is located. It is rarely feasible for the owner to charge other beneficiaries for the benefits they receive from the ES. For example, an owner of a building with a green roof cannot charge neighbors a fee for improved air quality or more pleasant scenic view. Attempts have been made to develop markets or payment schemes for a very small proportion of the ES (MEA, 2005). Green roofs are not an exception in this respect. Most of the aforementioned benefits relevant to green roofs fall into the category of public benefits, while most of the costs are incurred by the private decision makers (e.g. developers, real estate buyers).

A setting like this can lead to an inefficient situation in which the level of implementation of green roofs (or other ecosystem services) is at a lower level than would be societally desirable. A problem like this requires other kinds of solutions such as payments for negative externalities or subsidies for positive externalities. One example with respect to storm water management is a reduction in the storm-water fee of a property owner with a green roof installation. These kinds of tax abatement programs are scarce in Finland where storm-water fees are charged by municipalities. With a scan across the websites of Finnish municipalities, the basis of calculation for storm-water management is usually directly related to the piped water consumption (e.g. in Turku) or the fee is partly (e.g. Helsinki) or fully (e.g. Kouvola) based on the area of impenetrable surfaces of the considered lot. However, in some municipalities it is possible to reduce the fee thanks to storm-water solutions such as green roofs (e.g. Vaasa, the range of the fee 0-1230 €/year.)

Private benefits include at least membrane longevity, reduced energy costs and potentially sound insulation benefits, scenic value and less damage incurred from city floods. In addition, in some municipalities (e.g. Vaasa) it is possible to get a reduction in storm-water fee for building owners with less impervious surfaces. For companies, improvement of public image with the adoption of

green infrastructure may bring extra return on investment. Public benefits include at least reduced storm water runoff expenditures, reduced urban heat island effect, improved air quality, improved public health, scenic value and urban habitat for various creatures such as birds and insects. Currently all the costs (the net cost of green roof and maintenance costs) are private costs.

# **3 VALUING ECOSYSTEM SERVICES**

The economic valuation of ES is important for at least four different purposes which include awareness raising, support for decision-making, environmental liability and sustainable financing (Costanza et al., 1997). In this study, the valuation of ES can be viewed as an input to a cost-benefit analysis aiming at more efficient land-use, ecosystem payment schemes and other decisions related to urban planning. The benefits of ecosystem services are often neglected in ordinary cost-benefit analysis. However, the lack of commensurate valuation restrains from the comparison of where scarce resources should be allocated. The systematic undervaluation of the ecological dimension in decision making can be partly explained by the fact that the services provided by the natural capital are not adequately quantified in terms comparable with economic services and manufactured capital (Costanza et al., 1997).

Cost-benefit analysis is a decision-support tool that aims to convert the range of benefits and costs surrounding a decision to commensurable units, aggregating the effects over time by discounting future euros into present euros, and then arriving at a present value that can be compared with other uses of scarce resources. Thus, when the valuation has been done properly, the benefits of ecosystem services can be more explicitly incorporated in the cost benefit analysis and the results of cost-benefit analysis on the infrastructure will change. In this particular case, it is also important to communicate potential cost savings and other private benefits to developers and home-owners. Developers can market their buildings with a beneficial green-technology and a relatively higher investment can be at least partly justified with the benefits provided by the ecosystem services.

The concept of ecosystem services has developed from one basic principle in a sense that ecosystem services are considered necessary for human welfare. The framework of the valuation is based on three basic principles: it is *utilitarian, anthropocentric*, and *instrumentalist* in the way that it treats ecosystem services. It is utilitarian in that things count to the extent that people want them; anthropocentric in that humans are assigning the values; and instrumentalist in that ecosystem services are regarded beneficial only to the extent they increase human satisfaction (Randall, 1988).

The total economic value of ecosystem services can be divided into five categories: direct use value, indirect use value, option value, bequest value and existence value. The first two categories are

tangible and easy to evaluate and they include services like food and timber production or coastal protection. Option value includes potential future use values such as genetic prospecting and it pertains to the possible use of a resource in the future (e.g. new medicines from tropical rainforests). Intangible bequest and existence values are the hardest to valuate. Valuation of abstract concepts such as cultural heritage and indigenous rights can sometimes be better tackled with other decision-making methods such as multi-criteria analysis. Existence value is derived from human satisfaction for having a certain species or ecosystems to exist; bequest value is derived from the satisfaction to pass the environmental benefits to future generations (Brouwer, 2012).

Even though all dimensions of ecosystem services should be covered in the valuation studies, current research has mainly focused on the use values of ecosystem services (Brouwer, 2012). Broader valuation of ecosystem services is not a simple task and a variety of different methods has been developed for different purposes and situations. The next chapter presents the different valuation methods found in the literature.

#### 3.1 Valuation methods

Economic valuation methods fall into four main categories (De Groot et al., 2002): 1) direct market valuation, 2) indirect market valuation, 3) contingent valuation and 4) group valuation.

#### **Direct market valuation**

This is the exchange value that ecosystem services may have in trade, mainly applicable to the goods but also some for cultural services (e.g. recreational services if there is a charge to get into a national park etc.). This is applicable to a very limited scope of ecosystem services since only few of them are exchanged in the markets.

#### **Indirect market valuation**

When there are no explicit markets for ecosystem services, indirect methods must be used to assess the values. These include (at least) the following methods:

- Avoided Cost services that allow people to avoid costs that would have been incurred without these services, examples from the green roof include energy savings
- 2) Replacement Cost some ecosystem services could be replaced with human-made systems
- Factor Income ecosystem services that enhance income for example the product of roof gardens
- Travel Cost sometimes the use of ecosystem services requires travel and no other costs. The travel costs can in these cases be seen as the reflection of the revealed value of the service for an individual.
- 5) Hedonic Pricing service demand may be reflected in the prices that people are paying for associated goods; e.g. how much people pay more for housing that is located next to a park or some other green. The hedonic pricing method is based on the idea that people prefer and will pay more to live in areas with good environmental quality and thus, the marginal value of environmental quality is embedded in housing prices.

#### **Contingent valuation**

*Contingent valuation* (CV) is a demand-based method of determining values for non-market goods and services. Contingent valuation relies on hypothetical market-like scenarios to provide data that are then used to estimate values that people assign e.g. to various ecosystem services. One of the contingent valuation methods is the *stated value* (SV) method. In this method, data are collected by surveys that try to estimate the maximum amounts people would be *willing-to-pay* (WTP) or would be *willing-to-accept* (WTA) to forgo a specific level of an ecosystem service. There are several important points that need to be taken into account when conducting a SV study. Studies need to clearly define the ecosystem service to be valued (e.g. the existence of a specific species) and respondents need to be informed about the framework of the hypothetical situation. It has also been shown that WTP and WTA surveys might give very different results from each other with otherwise similar settings (Kahneman and Tversky, 1984). Thus, revealed preference studies (often RV in literature – stands for revealed value) are likely to give more consistent results, since they are based on the actual behaviour of people; however, they are also more difficult to carry out.

#### **Group valuation**

Group valuation is another contingent valuation method which is based on a stated preference of a group. In this method, a group of stakeholders is brought together to discuss values of ecosystem

services (de Groot et al., 2002). The idea behind the method is that ecosystem services are (usually) public goods and decisions that affect them have an effect on a large group of people. Some believe that valuation of these services should come from public discussion instead of individual based values. This method can also be used in conjunction with any of the aforementioned methods.

#### 3.2 The preferred valuation method

Each valuation method has its strengths and weaknesses. Costanza et al. (1997) went through over one hundred articles and gave an overview of which valuation methods are usually applied to different ecosystem functions. For each ES, several valuation methods are usually applicable but for each service only one or two methods have primarily been used (Costanza et al., 1997). Furthermore there is a relationship between the main type of service and the preferred valuation method. Regulation services are mainly valued through indirect market valuation techniques (avoidable cost and replacement cost), habitat services through indirect market pricing (money donated for conservation purposes), production services through direct market pricing and factor income methods, and cultural services are mainly valuated through contingent valuation (cultural and spiritual information) and hedonic pricing (aesthetic information). Market pricing can be applied to those services that bear a market price (food, tourism). De Groot et al. (2002) showed that for all types of ecosystem functions it is possible, in principle, to arrive at a monetary estimation of human preferences for the availability and maintenance of the related ecosystem services.

#### 3.3 Net present value

After the valuation, the benefits (accrued sometimes in the distant future) and costs (which usually need to be covered right away) need to be converted into a common currency of equivalent present terms by the means of discounting. The choice of an appropriate discount rate is one of the most critical issues in environmental economics. The result of an environmental cost-benefit analysis is usually extremely sensitive to the choice of the discount factor, thus almost any answer to a CBA question can be defended by the choice of an appropriate discount rate. The rationale of discount factors for the distant future has been studied extensively by economists Martin Weitzman and Christian Gollier (e.g. Gollier and Weitzman, 2010). They concluded that when future discount

rates are uncertain but have a permanent component, then the effective discount rate must decline over time toward its lowest possible value.

In this study, the time horizon extends up to 40 years. For practical reasons, we use a constant discount factor for all the future benefits independent on the type of the benefit. Upon a survey of over 2000 economists, Weitzman concluded that the appropriate discount rates (for environmental CBA) are the following: 4% for the immediate future (years 1-5), 3% for years 6-25, 2% for years 26-75, 1% for years 76-300, and 0% for benefits and costs for years after 300. For the relevant time horizon in our study and taking the duration (the weighted average duration until the benefits are received) of the benefits into account, we choose 3% as the single discount factor. This is in line with the fixed long-term interest rates (http://www.swap-rates.com/EUROSwap\_extended.html) which reflect the nominal rates (+ premium) that borrowers have to pay to finance their activities.

# 4 THE VALUE OF BENEFITS OF GREEN ROOFS

#### 4.1 Membrane longevity

Most studies indicated that green roofs will at least double the lifespan of the roofing membrane to 40 or 50 years while literature estimates for conventional roof longevity ranged from 10 to 30 years according to a review article that had gathered estimates from the available literature (Toronto and Region Conservation, 2007). As the green roof industry in Finland is relatively new, we were unable to obtain green roof performance data over a long-period. Thus, we have to rely on literature estimates. The estimates are mainly gathered from German literature such as Porsche and Kohler (2003).

The available literature (Liu and Baskaran, 2004; Porsche and Kohler, 2003) suggests that conventional dark roofs will last around 20 years and the green roof at least 40 years. The benefit of installing a green roof is then the cost of installing some other type of a roof 20 years in the future. We assume a real discount rate of 3% so that inflation does not need to be taken into account. From the industry survey (see Chapter 4) we found that the price of a regular bitumen roof is around  $43 \notin /m^2$  including value added tax.

Present value of the benefit =  $\frac{43 \notin /m^2}{e^{20x0.03}}$ = 23.6  $\notin /m^2$ 

This is a private benefit (avoided cost) for the owner of the building.

#### 4.2 Storm-water management

Storm-water management is getting more and more attention in Finland. Already 80% of Finns live in urban areas and almost 20% live in the metropolitan area of Helsinki. Urbanization creates more and more impervious surfaces which prevent the storm water absorption in to the ground. Also the

amount of precipitation is expected to rise in the future as well as the frequency of extreme downpours (Jylhä et al., 2009). The sewage infrastructure of already constructed areas is hard or expensive to alter, while in many parts of Finland the infrastructure already lags behind the current requirements (Aaltonen et al., 2008). Thus, green roof technology that reduces the runoff has potential to be a beneficial way to mitigate the harmful effects of storm water.

Storm-water management in Finland is not even designed to dissipate the runoff of the heaviest rain events because of the high price of the required infrastructure. A usual design for the storm water system capacity in Finland is based on a 10-minute rain event that takes place on average every second year. Thus, sometimes the capacity is exceeded which causes floods and combined sewer overflows. Floods damage building structures, urban developments and destroy items that are stored in the basements. The damage risks related to urban flooding have not been evaluated in detail so far in Finland (Aaltonen et al., 2008).

Storm-water management systems in Finland can be divided into two main categories: combined sewer systems and separate sewer systems. In combined sewer systems the storm-, waste- and drainage waters are conveyed in the same pipes. A separate sewer system is a system in which different types of water are conveyed in their own separate pipes. In the downtown area of Helsinki (~2200 hectares), the sewer system is a combined system, in other parts of Helsinki mainly separate sewers systems are in use.

Green roofs can reduce the demand on sewer system capacity by retaining as much as fifty to seventy percent of annual rainfall precipitation depending on regional climate, and even more importantly, by retaining water during heavy rain events, and slowing down water fluxes from surfaces into the sewer. It is quite evident that a single green roof or some scattered roofs here and there have a little or no impact on the storm-water management expenditure. However, storm-water modeling has shown that there are potential benefits for large-scale roof greening projects in urban areas (e.g. Obernhorfer et al., 2007; Rosenzweig et al., 2006 and Deutsch et al., 2006). As stated in Chapter 2, a 10% green roof scenario is estimated to reduce the total annual runoff by 2-3% and 50% green roof scenario by more than 10% when the installed green roofs are lightweight, thin and planted with sedums.

To obtain reliable figures on the costs of sewer system infrastructure, an interview with the manager of the investment unit in Helsinki Region Environmental Services Authority was conducted

(Heinonen, 2012). In Helsinki, there are over 1900 km of sewer pipes of which about 250 km belong to the combined sewer system and 1650 km to the separate system. In Helsinki, the expansion of the sewer network (almost all new sewers fall into the category of separate sewer systems) costs about 12 million euros per year of which about 4 million euros can be allocated to the storm water pipes. The repair of existing storm water pipes costs around 2 million euros per year. There are no accurate figures available on how much money is spent yearly to repair existing combined sewer systems (or what is the relevance of storm water in the attrition of the pipes), but this was estimated to be 5-10 million euros of which 40% can be allocated to the storm water induced repair costs.

In addition to the capital expenditure, the storm water that is conveyed in the combined pipe system needs to be purified at the water treatment plant along with the wastewater. The cost of the purification is around 3-4 million euros per year (of which about 1 million euros is directly dependent on the amount of storm water). Usually the capacities of the treatment plant are sufficient but in the case of a long period of heavy rainfall, there is a risk of combined sewage overflow and a combination of storm and sewage water needs to be conveyed straight to the Baltic Sea. This happened in a larger scale for example in the summer of 2005. In the future, the costs of repair work are estimated to be two- or triple-folded as the sewer system gets older. In addition, both the repair and the expansion of the network is going to be about 20% more expensive in the future since the pipes need to be resized due to the climate change which is expected to bring more precipitation.

The question of how much of these costs can be reduced with a green roof infrastructure is more complex. In several cost-benefit analyses it has been assumed that there is a linear relationship between the amount of runoff and the capital expenditures (e.g. Rosenzweig et al., 2006). In another study (Clark et al., 2008) it was assumed that the reduction in storm water fees due to a green roof is normally-distributed at fifty percent of the storm water fee for the building footprint; impacts to storm water infrastructure costs were only assessed at scale. However, according to our interview (Heinonen, 2012), some costs are fixed even on in the long term and the amount of runoff has only a small effect on these costs. In addition, we cannot use storm water fees as a basis for our analysis, since not all municipalities charge storm water fees and only a few of them assign a reduction to the fee for the green roof owners. Despite these challenges, we try to give some range of the potential benefits, which can then be updated when more information is available.

The total operational costs of rain water purification for the next 40 years are estimated to be ~26 million euros. The operational costs of water purification would go down around 100 000 (current yearly average) – 120 000 (as the precipitation increases) euros per year with a 50% green roof scenario (direct relationship between the amount of water and variable costs) or about 2.6 million euros (3% discount rate) during the life-cycle of a green roof and around 0.5 million euros with a 10% green roof scenario. This translates into a benefit of  $0.15 \notin/m^2$ .

The total capital expenditure (next 40 years) for Helsinki for the storm water management is estimated as follows for the new sewer systems: first ten years 4 million euros (current system) annually, second ten year period 4.4 million euros annually (resizing pipes in more critical areas) and 4.8 million euros annually for the last twenty years (resizing all new pipes which means 20% increase in the costs). The total capital expenditure for the expansion of the sewer network is then around 100 million euros of which around 10 million euros can be allocated to the resizing of the pipes.

For the repair of the existing separate sewer infrastructure, the costs are estimated as follows: 2 million euros annually for the first 10 years (current system), 4.4 million euros annually for the second ten year period (resizing of the pipes and doubling of the demand for repair) and 7.2 million euros annually for the last twenty years; the total cost being around 110 million euros of which 30 million euros can be allocated for the resizing of the pipes.

For the repair of existing combined sewer infrastructure the costs are estimated as follows: 3 million euros annually for the first 10 years (40% of the current overall costs), 4.4 million euros annually for the second ten years, 5.75 million euros annually for the third ten year period and 7.2 million euros annually for the fourth (doubling of the repair costs and 20% for the resizing of the pipes). These figures translate into the total costs of 110 million euros of which 23 million euros for the resizing of the pipes. The capital expenditure for each cost group is shown in table 4.2.

	Operational	Expansion of	Repair of	Repair of
	costs of rain	the (combined)	existing	existing
	water	sewer system	(separate)	(combined)
	purification	into new areas	sewer network	sewer network
Total costs	26	104	110	110
million euros				
(period 2012-				
2052)				
Costs (million	2	9	29	23
euros) of				
increased				
precipitation				
and resizing of				
the pipes				

 Table 4.2. Sewer network capital expenditure

The costs of resizing of the pipes are directly related to the peak runoff during heavy rain events. The peak outflow of runoff was significantly reduced (p < 0.05) from the green roof (the average peak flow reductions of more than 75% were observed from each green roof), and each green roof substantially delayed runoff (Hathaway, 2008). Another study from North Carolina (Moran and Hunt, 2004) on actual green roof performance found that test green roofs reduced runoff from peak rainfall events by more than 75% and that the roofs temporarily stored and then released, through evapotranspiration, more than 60% of all rainfall. With a 50% infrastructure scenario, we only assume that the resizing costs would go down by 50% and other costs stay fixed. With a 10% infrastructure scenario, we assume that the resizing costs would go down by 10%. In other words, it is assumed that part of the increase in the expected costs due the climate change would be mitigated with green roofs, resulting in a benefit of 31 million euros. As for the other costs, in the higher range of the benefit calculation it is also assumed that green roofs would reduce the costs by 10% for the 50% infrastructure scenario and 2% for the 10% infrastructure scenario (26 M€ and 5 M€). With these assumptions, the total value for a 50% green roof scenario would be between 31-57 million euros and for 10 % infrastructure scenario between 5-11 million euros for the expected time span of 40 years.

The range of the green roof benefit for the storm-water management is then  $1.9-3.4 \notin /m^2$ . This result is only valid in case of a wide implementation of green roofs. Note that this is the range of the average benefits per installed green roof square meter in the Helsinki city area. The benefits are thus likely to be much higher in the downtown area and much lower in scarcely built areas.

#### 4.3 Scenic and health benefits

Most intangible ecosystem services, such as aesthetics, are usually left out of the cost-benefit analyses simply because those are so hard to valuate in monetary terms. Practical assessment studies are scarce and uncertainty on the valid methods still exists. Contingent valuation (starting from Randall et al. 1974 for landscape degradation) and hedonic pricing method have been applied regularly (e.g. in Finland Tyrväinen, 1997; Tyrväinen and Miettinen, 2000) to landscape values.

In the case of green roof aesthetics people seek higher aesthetic quality compared to a normal roof or simply a more beautiful view. However, as Price (2008) pointed out, the concept of good aesthetic quality has changed over time and varies between different cultures (and among a culture), though some normality of good aesthetic taste exists between different cultures. Another problem in the valuation is the interaction between constituents of value: a particular landscape cannot be assessed independently of other landscapes surrounding it (Price, 2008). Also if people have a choice, they tend to live in areas of which characteristics they most prefer. This and a phenomenon called *familiarity effect* results in a situation where people tend to overvaluate the characteristics of their own surroundings relative to other people.

In addition to visual benefits, a set of epidemiological studies have provided evidence on the positive relationship between well-being, health and green space (Tzoulas et al., 2007). Positive relationships with green space have been found between senior citizens' longevity (Takano et al. 2002), self-reported health de Vries et al. (2003) and Payne et al. (1998) with general perceived health, higher levels of acitivity and the ability to relax faster. Health benefits may be in part explained by aesthetic benefits.

We tackled the problem of valuation of the aesthetic value of green spaces with hedonic pricing theory. Hedonic pricing theory (e.g. Griliches, 1971; Rosen, 1974; Sheppard, 1999), as applied to the housing market, views housing as a bundle of goods. Housing consumption is in fact the

concurrent consumption of several attributes coming with the property, such as attributes of the structure itself, proximity to services, transportation, amenities and labor, as well as more abstract attributes such as the neighborhood's socio-economic profile, culture, prestige associated with certain locations, and overall environmental quality. While the housing consumer would prefer a combination of the "best" attributes, in reality scarce resources in the city, budget constraints, and by variations in the bid-rent functions of consumer groups, establish a need for prioritizing and compromising among attributes and locations. Hedonic price theory views this process as an indicator for the partial utilities that consumers attach to the various housing attributes. By estimating the joint distribution of the observed market price and attributes, hedonic models are able to estimate the marginal value of each attribute. In the context of ecosystem functions or services valuation, this framework enables the estimation of marginal values that are typically part of housing, such as urban green, urban blue and environmental quality (see e.g. de Groot et al. 2002 for a review of what functions can be valued via the hedonic method).

Votsis (2012) and Votsis et al. (2013) used spatial hedonic models for estimating the marginal value of different types of urban green an urban blue in Espoo, Helsinki, and Pori. The effects of distances and densities on price were used as indicators of marginal value. The values exhibit high sensitivity to the context within the urban system, as well as the choice of spatial scale.

While urban parks are equally distributed across Helsinki, their marginal effect on housing value is the highest in the central business districts (CBD), and declines noticeably when moving towards the suburbs, where other forms of urban green (e.g. forests or large recreation areas) substitute urban parks in the hierarchy of utilities. The coastline was found to be a strong positive determinant of housing prices in all three cities (sea for Espoo and Helsinki; river and sea for Pori), even when controlling for interfering factors such as distance to the CBD and urbanization history. As with urban parks, the magnitude of the effects of the coastline in Helsinki decreases by distance to CBD, as other ecosystem types substitute the utility provided by living near the sea.

Varying the spatial scale indicates that the marginal value of urban green and blue remains positive, but the results refer to different planning solutions depending on the scale: the immediate vicinity of dwellings (architecture and site planning) versus the general ecological profile of the neighborhood (urban design and planning). The gradient of the positive spillover effects seems to vary as well, depending both on location and the choice of the spatial scale. In other words, the extent of the positive influence of urban ecosystems as well as the rate of change of the influence vary depending on the location within the city and on whether the analysis looks at neighborhoods or individual dwellings. (Votsis, 2012).

These findings can be interpreted as the composite effect of a given ecosystem type minus the effects that are controlled for in the model. Thus the estimated positive value of urban parks or the coastline reflects their scenic/aesthetic, psychological, health, noise abatement, exercise benefits and many more. Other factors reflected in the estimated benefits may be the type of urban form usually found in the vicinity of parks as well as micro-climate characteristics established by parks, which are factors difficult to disentangle from each other.

#### 4.4 Energy savings

The impact of green roofs on energy savings is a difficult parameter to estimate because it is not the same for any two buildings, climates or green roof systems. The energy demand is dependent on building characteristics such as number of floors, location of the building and the purpose of use of the building. However, for a specific building with specific properties, the demand for energy can be calculated in the present climate and predicted in the future climate. Jylhä et al. (2012) presented an example of these kinds of simulations in the Finnish climate and building codes applied to the building specifics. By modifying the properties of the roof of these simulations, we can estimate the energy savings that can be achieved with green roof technology. Another approach is to study the insulating and cooling properties of the vegetated roofs and compare them with those of the non-vegetated roofs (Seppänen, 2001). This is the approach we take on estimating the savings on energy demand for heating. For cooling demand, we rely on the existing simulations and literature review.

#### **Energy demand for heating**

The impact of a green roof on the energy consumption of a building can be calculated by comparing the heat loss of different types of roofs, in other words by calculating how much a green roof reduces heat loss compared to non-vegetated roofs. In this way, we do not have to study the properties of the entire building. For these purposes we need data on the hourly temperatures from that region where the green roofs are supposed to be built at. For this purpose, we use observations from Kaisaniemi (in Helsinki). We selected years 2008 and 2010 of which year 2008 was unusually warm and 2010 in contrast unusually cold.

The hourly heat loss q of the roof can be calculated with the following formula (Seppänen, 2001):

 $q = U_1 \times A \times (T_s - T_u)$ , where  $U = \text{Coefficient of thermal transmittance, the smaller the coefficient, the better the insulation; unit$  $<math>W/(K \times m^2)$   $A = \text{Roof area, unit } m^2$   $T_s = \text{Target temperature inside the building, unit K (or C)}$  $T_u = \text{Hourly average temperature outside, unit K (or C)}$ 

For a new building, the coefficient of thermal transmittance U is approximately 0.09 (defined in the Finnish building regulations) which could be reduced by some estimates to 0.08 with a vegetated roof (confirmed by Jokisalo, 2012). For older buildings, the difference in insulation is larger, for example the coefficient U of the roof of a typical building constructed in 2005 was 0.15. However, more research on the isolative properties of green roofs is needed to give more reliable estimates.

By summing up the hourly heat losses of the roof and taking the average of the colder year and the warmer year, we get an estimate for the annual heat loss for each roof.

$$Q_1 = \sum_{1.1.xx \ 00.00}^{31.12.xx \ 24.00} q_1$$
, for the conventional roof

$$Q_2 = \sum_{1.1.xx \ 00.00}^{31.12.xx \ 24.00} q_2$$
 , for the green roof

By a subtraction  $Q_1 - Q_2$  we get the impact of the green roof on the annual heat loss of a building. To get the impact of the green roof on the energy consumption we still need to divide the reduction in the heat loss with the combined efficiency of the heat supply system and heat distribution system, e.g. 95% for a building with a radiator (95%) and electric heating system (100%) (Finland's Environmental Administration, 2012). After that, we get the annual saving on the energy use (kWh) which we can convert into monetary savings by multiplication with the price of electricity ( $0.1 \notin$ / kwh including the transfer price). Annual savings need to be discounted for the next 40 years, the time green roof is estimated to yield benefits. For a new building (*U*=0.09) we get with the aforementioned settings total benefit of  $3.33 \notin m^2$  (of which 14 cents for the first year, real discount factor of 3%).

For an older building (built before 2005, U=0.15, which is already an optimistic value for an older building) the total benefit would translate into  $22.86 \text{ €/m}^2$ . This is to showcase the fact, that in new buildings the insulation has been taken care so well, that green roofs can only have a small impact on the energy usage. But in older buildings adding a green roof could result in much higher level of benefits.

#### **Energy demand for cooling**

In Finland, for climatic reasons, much more energy is used to heat buildings than to cool them. Simulations show (Jylhä et al., 2012) that an example building (residential, one-storied, living area 133 m<sup>2</sup>) in southern Finland consumes 3 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> per year for cooling in the current climate with a small expected increase in the future to at most 3.5 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> in 2030. Using the estimate of Saiz et al. (2006), the energy demand for cooling is reduced by 25% for a one-floor building by thin, lightweight green roofs with succulent drought resistant plants. With the discount rate of 3%, this benefit translates to  $1.9 \notin$ /floor m<sup>2</sup> which in a building with one floor is roughly the same for the roof area (for a relatively flat roof).

An example office building (five-storied, net room area 6245 m<sup>2</sup>) in the same report (Jylhä et al., 2012) showed that an office building uses relatively more energy for cooling than a residential building. The energy demand for cooling in southern Finland was estimated to be 7 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> per year now and 7.5 kWh/m<sup>2</sup>per year in 2030. For such a building, the reduction in the energy demand for cooling is roughly 10% (Saiz et al. 2006). The benefit is then 1.7  $\notin$ /floor m<sup>2</sup>. For a building with five floors, this roughly equates to 8.5  $\notin$ / roof m<sup>2</sup>.

#### 4.5 Increased urban biodiversity

Biodiversity is a rather complicated concept with several hierarchical levels or dimensions. The vital flow of ecosystem services is based on some minimum amount of different kinds of organisms (and thus biodiversity), and the value of biodiversity as such is infinite. While the value of

biodiversity as a whole cannot be estimated, the value of the change from one state to another can be evaluated. These kinds of changes in biodiversity could, for example, be the extinction of a certain species or a certain group of species. An example of such a research is a study (Nunes et al., 2001) that gathered results from existing literature and concluded that people give different values for different species of animals and plants. In the literature review (Chapter 2) of the biodiversity benefits of green roofs it was found that green roofs can support at least a wide variety of insects, spiders, other small organisms and birds.

#### 4.6 Noise insulation

Green roofs reduce sound reflection and improve the soundproofing of a roof, thus resulting to a transmission loss of about 10 dB. These sound insulation benefits are particularly useful for buildings which lie under flight paths or which contain very strong sources of noise such as night clubs or highways. We did not find value estimates for the value of sound insulation benefit from the literature except for an estimate by Rosenzweig et al. (2006) for an average New York City building. They did not however reveal the valuation method and sound insulation benefits are likely to be very different in New York than in Helsinki.

On the air traffic zones, the improvement of soundproofing can be proved to be valuable. One example and a widely used technique to improve the noise insulation is to use plasterboards as an additional ceiling element (Helimäki, 2013). Based on the literature review (e.g. Connelly and Hodgson, 2008) the noise insulation benefits of green roofs are comparable (or better) to an additional (though unspecified) ceiling element. Thus, we use the cost of adding a plasterboard layer on a roof as an estimate for the benefit of green roof.

The price of a plasterboard is approximately  $4 \notin m^2$ . The installation costs are based on a workload estimate from a building contractor. The building contractor estimated that in an hour approximately  $3 m^2$  of plasterboard can be installed by a person. The hourly costs of hiring a contractor in Finland are approximately  $50 \notin$ . Thus, the material costs and the installation costs are approximately  $20 \notin m^2$ . This is the high estimate for the noise insulation benefit of green roofs applicable only in air noise zones.

#### 4.7 Emission regulation

One way of reducing air pollutants from the urban environment is the use of vegetation. Vegetation reduces air pollutants by passively filtering and directing airflows, and actively absorbing many pollutants. However, the choice of plant material essentially affects this air quality ecosystem service, as some trees for example release harmful volatile organic compounds (Steinbrecher et al., 2009). To quantify the air quality benefits, we need data on the gas exchange and filtering capacity of green roofs. The availability of such data is very limited. Only a couple of studies have modeled the removal of air pollutants by green roofs and none of these has been done in Finland. Thus, again, we need to rely on literature estimates.

Tan and Sia (2005) found in a field study that the levels of particles and  $SO_2$  in the air above the roof were reduced by 6% and by 37% after a green roof was installed. This field measurement proved that green roofs could potentially improve the air quality in urban areas. Currie and Bass (2005) estimated that 109 ha of green roofs in Toronto could remove about 8 metric tons of unspecified air pollutants per year. Peck (2003) estimated that current roof greening in Toronto (covers over 6.5 million square meters) results in a 5-10% reduction in NO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub> concentrations in the air, and in reduction of 30 tons of particulate matter.

Yang et al. (2008) studied the performance of green roofs in Chicago. The result showed that a total of 1675 kg of air pollutants was removed by 19.8 ha of green roofs in one year with  $O_3$  accounting for 52% of the total uptake, NO<sub>2</sub> (27%), PM<sub>10</sub> (14%), and SO<sub>2</sub> (7%). The annual total removal per hectare of green roof was 85 kg ha–1 yr–1, of which 44kg was  $O_3$ , 23kg NO<sub>2</sub>, 12kg *PM*<sub>10</sub> and 6kg was of SO<sub>2</sub>. They pointed out that air pollutant removal by green roofs in Chicago was affected by air pollutant concentrations, weather conditions and the growth of plants. The highest uptake occurred in May and lowest in February. Yang et al. (2008) compared their estimates to other studies and found out that their estimate was 18% higher compared than an estimate from Toronto (Currie and Bass, 2005). For our purposes, we utilize the proportions of gas reductions from Yang et al. (2008), use their estimate of 85 kg  $ha^{-1}yr^{-1}$  as our high estimate and the estimate from Toronto (Currie and Bass 2005) of 69 kg  $ha^{-1}yr^{-1}$  as our low estimate for green roof gas uptake potential.

The average costs of different emissions were studied in a report by Finnish Road Managements (Tervonen and Ristikartano, 2011). The calculations include negative effects on health (e.g. cancer, heart and lung diseases), environment, infrastructure (e.g. corrosion) and climate change (of GHGs). The costs were separately estimated for both urban environment and for sparsely populated areas. The costs were significantly higher in urban areas since they have an effect on a higher number of people. The costs in urban areas are shown in Table 4.7

Type of	The average cost in a	The average cost in a sparsely
emission	population center (€/1000kg)	populated area (€/1000kg)
SO <sub>2</sub>	15 475	2 229
NO <sub>x</sub>	1 281	501
PM <sub>x</sub>	232 761	7 273
СО	28	1
hydrocarbons	77	77
CO <sub>2</sub>	37	37

Table 4.7. The costs of different gases and particles (originally for car emission calculations)(Tervonen and Ristikartano, 2011

As we are concerned on green roofs in urban areas, we use the estimates from the second column. Unfortunately, no cost estimate for  $O_3$  was found. However, it is again evident, that more populated the location the higher the benefits of green roofs. In Table 4.7.2, we have calculated the benefits based on empirical evidence on the uptake potential and calculated the total benefit for the life cycle of a green roof. The total air quality benefits still lack estimates for some gases, but the range for the quantifiable benefits vary from  $4.8 \text{ } \text{€/m}^2$  to  $6.9 \text{ } \text{€/m}^2$ . The results are shown in Table 4.7.2.

Type of emission	Uptake kg	Benefit €	Benefit €/m <sup>2</sup>
	$ha^{-1}yr^{-1}$	ha <sup>-1</sup> yr <sup>-1</sup>	
03	30-44 kg	not quantified	not quantified
NO <sub>x</sub>	16-23 kg	20-30 €	0.05-0.07
PM <sub>x</sub>	8-12	1920-2780 €	4.57-6.62
SO <sub>2</sub>	4-6	60-90 €	0.15-0.21

Table 4.7.2. Green roof air quality benefits

# **5 COSTS OF GREEN ROOFS**

#### 5.1 Cost estimates from Finland, industry survey

Suppliers of green roofs in Finland gave a cost estimate for an installation of a lightweight, inaccessible (new) green roof on a low-slope roof with an area of  $500 \text{ m}^2$  or more. Obviously the size and complexity of a green roof system have a significant impact on both the labor and material costs, thus more complex systems are much more expensive. Our example roofs are built on a supporting structure and the cost estimates are based on the assumption that the roof will be built on an existing building with sufficient loading capacity. The roofing membrane consists of a manufactured sheet of bitumen. Some additional costs will incur if an existing roof layer needs to be removed.

- The standard bitumen roof costs are around 35 €/m<sup>2</sup> (+VAT 24%, = 43 €/m<sup>2</sup>). This includes rubber bitumen layers, waterproofing and installation costs. These installations are needed also under green roofs (with some modifications, the costs remain approximately the same).
- The additional costs to install a green roof are on average around 50 €/m<sup>2</sup> (+VAT 24 %, = 62 €/m<sup>2</sup>). The additional costs include the sedum mats (around 53% of the additional costs), the additional installation costs (around 24% of the additional costs) and additional taxes (23%).

The least expensive green roof installation method is the by installing a drainage layer, filter fabric soil, and plants from cuttings and seed. These green roofs allow for more plant diversity due to the soil depth, but require more structural capacity to hold the weight of the soil. They are generally at least 20% less expensive than ready-made green roof sedum mat systems, the total extra costs being around  $50 \notin /m^2$  including VAT.

As mentioned, these estimates do not include any structural modifications that some buildings may require to accommodate a green roof. Some studies suggest that a new industrial building could require up to 45% increase in building structural costs in order to accommodate a green roof with a design load of 125 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Green roofs with lower load levels are being designed and implemented

at least in Germany (Zinco, 2012), in Japan (moss panels) and in Switzerland (China reed as the lower light-weight water retention layer).

#### 5.2 Economies of scale and increased competition

Cost estimates from Finland are very high in comparison with estimates in particular in those countries with established green roof industries. Estimates for (additional) average green roof costs in Germany range from  $13 \notin m^2$  to  $41 \notin m^2$  (in 2007, estimates from Toronto and Region conservation 2007). The low price level in Germany is a result of more than twenty years of development and the availability of thin green roofs. In Switzerland, developed low-cost solutions cost approximately only  $20 \notin m^2$ . (Professor Stephan Breinneisen, pers. comm., May 2013). In newer markets (such as Finland) competition is scarce (only three major suppliers in Finland), no economies of scale exist, labor is more expensive since installers lack experience and there is a tendency to use custom-design systems. Obviously, one option that would support the proliferation of green roofs would be to adopt low-cost techniques. The additional costs of a green roof have gone usually down by 33%-50% (Toronto and Region Conservation, 2007) since the industry has established itself. In our scenarios we assume that the same would happen in Finland if 50% of roof top area in Helsinki was to be greened and the cost level would be closer to those of Germany and Switzerland.

The total amount of roof area in Helsinki is about 1743.7 ha which is estimated by calculating the sum of building polygons footprints (MML Maastotietokanta, 2010). If 50% of the rooftops were replaced with a green roof whenever a non-vegetated roof is worn out, the total additional costs are estimated to be in the range of 600 million euros to 900 million euros of which 120-170 million euros would go back to the government as collected tax revenue.

# **6 GREEN ROOF COST-BENEFIT ASSESSMENTS**

# 6.1 A single roof-top-installation

Table 6.1 lists the costs and benefits surrounding a single green roof installation decision in Helsinki. Benefits are dependent on a number of different factors, including building specific factors such as number of floors and type of use, system specific factors such as location in the city (e.g. surrounding noise levels) and preference specific factors (e.g. how much the building owner appreciates the gain in green space). In Table 6.1 we list the cost and benefits on the low scenario (high costs, low benefits) and in a high scenario (low costs, high benefits). In addition, we list the most relevant factors that determine the scope of the benefit. The analysis shows that for the green roof investment to be justified for a private decision maker, the personal preference to own a building with a green roof must be high. The current level of costs is usually too high compared as the level of private benefits.

	Low scenario	High scenario	Relevant factors
Additional costs of	60 €/m <sup>2</sup>	50 €/m <sup>2</sup>	lower costs possible
installation			for buildings with
			strong structural
			capacity
Private benefits			
Energy demand for	3.3 €/m <sup>2</sup>	3.3 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Isolative properties
heating			of the alternative
			(roof)
Energy demand for	1.9 €/m <sup>2</sup>	8.5 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Savings lower for a
cooling			residential building,
			higher with
			(multilevel) office
			building

Membrane	23.6 €/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Service life 40
Longevity			years (20 service
			life for a
			conventional roof)
Sound insulation	0 €/m <sup>2</sup>	20 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Potential benefits in
			air traffic noise
			zones
Aesthetic value of	$0 \in m^2$	++	More research
the roof (personal			needed to quantify
preferences of the			benefits
owner)			
B/C -ratio	0.5	1.1 (+ aesthetic	B/C -ratio between
		value)	0.5 and 1.1

 Table 6.1. Private costs and benefits, organized to produce two different scenarios: low (=high costs, low benefits) and high (=low costs, high benefits)

# 6.2 50% implementation infrastructure scenario

In Table 6.2 we list the costs and benefits of a (hypothetical) 50% green roof–infrastructurescenario in Helsinki. High level of implementation would bring the (additional) costs of the green roofs down. In our low scenario, we assume the reduction to be 33% and in our high scenario we assume the reduction to be 50%. Next to the benefits of a single (isolated) green roof, some public benefits are expected to emerge with a higher implementation rate. These public benefits include storm-water management and air quality improvements. Intangible benefits such as the increased urban biodiversity and scenic value of the green roof can be proved to have a positive value (e.g. Votsis, 2013) but more research is needed to put a value-range on these benefits. The inclusion of (quantified) public benefits and lower costs results in B/C coefficients between 0.9 and 2.2 even without biodiversity and scenic value benefits.

	Low scenario	High scenario	Relevant factors
Additional costs of	40 €/m <sup>2</sup>	30 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Market structure,
installation			taxation

Energy demand for	3.3 €/m <sup>2</sup>	3.3 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Isolative properties
heating			of the alternative
			(roof)
Energy demand for	1.9 €/m <sup>2</sup>	8.5 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Savings lower for a
cooling			residential building,
			higher with
			(multilevel) office
			building
Membrane	23.8 €/m <sup>2</sup>	23.8 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Service life 40
Longevity			years (20 service
			life for a
			conventional roof)
Sound insulation	0 €/m <sup>2</sup>	20 €/m <sup>2</sup>	Potential benefits in
			air traffic noise
			zones
Aesthetic value of	0 €/m <sup>2</sup>	++	More research
the roof (personal			needed to quantify
preferences of the			benefits
owner)			
Private B/C -ratio	0.7	1.8 (+ aesthetic	Private B/C -ratio
		value)	between 0.5 and 1.1
Public Benefits			
Storm-water-	1.9 €/m <sup>2</sup>	3.4 €/m <sup>2</sup>	The proportion of
management			Sewage
			infrastructure costs
			reduced
Air quality	4.8 €/m <sup>2</sup>	6.9 €/m <sup>2</sup>	The green roof
regulation			performance in the
			climate conditions
			of southern Finland
			still unclear
Increased urban	+	++	Evidence shows
biodiversity			that people assign

			(usually) positive
			values to increased
			biodiversity, more
			research needed to
			determine scope of
			the benefit
Scenic value	+	++	Evidence shows
			that urban green
			increases real estate
			prices in the close
			neighborhood
Total BC -ratio	0.9 (+ increased	2.2 (+ urban	The inclusion of
	urban biodiversity	biodiversity +	biodiversity and
	and scenic value)	aesthetic value)	scenic benefits can
			have a dramatically
			increasing effect on
			the B/C -ratio

Table 6.2. 50% infrastructure scenario, private and public benefits, for low scenario (high costs, low benefits) and high scenario (low costs, high benefits)

# **7 CONCLUSIONS**

The main conclusions are:

- The private benefits are not high enough to cover the current level of the (private) costs of the most commonly available green roof installation based on pre-grown vegetation mats.
- Higher implementation rate would drive down the cost level and public benefits would emerge.
- 3) When adding up private and public benefits, the benefits would surpass costs and make green roofs good investments for the society.
- Benefits are positively correlated with the amount and intensity of precipitation, outside temperature, and proximity to city centre.
- 5) If no incentives or regulation is developed, the level of green roof installation is expected to remain low. In order to promote green roofs, at least three options are available, and can be used simultaneously:
  - a. Supportive policies for private decision-makers
  - b. Investment in R&D to allow for lower cost green roof installation techniques and demonstration programs
  - c. All the ecosystem services that are provided by the green roofs, should be made explicit, and both public and private decision makers should be aware of the services.

The aim of this study was to discuss the economic benefits and costs of thin, lightweight green roofs with minimal maintenance requirements. The type of green roof determines the diversity and volume of ecosystem services available; similarly the type of green roof also affects the installation costs. Additionally, the benefits and costs were estimated only in the city Helsinki. Nevertheless, the valuation methods used in this study can be applied just as well for other types of green roofs and for other urban systems. Green roofs provide many ecosystem services from which urbanites can benefit. Many of these benefits do not have a market price, thus ecosystem valuation methods need to be applied. The estimates reported in this study are of a preliminary nature, but results can be updated when more research results on the performance of green roofs in the Finnish climate and urban environment are available.

The costs of green roof installation were gathered by means of supplier interviews. The least expensive green roof installation method includes the installation of a drainage layer, filter fabric soil and plants from cuttings and seed. However, this installation method requires more structural capacity from the building than a lightweight, sedum-mat based solution. The additional costs of a green roof are around  $50-60 \text{ }\text{e/m^2}$ . Thus green roofs are over two times more expensive to install than a bitumen roof, which we used as a reference roof. Cost estimates were high, in particular compared to those countries with established green roof industries. The additional costs of green roofs have gone down significantly in Switzerland and Germany since the establishment of the industry in those economies. We assumed that a higher implementation rate would drive down the additional costs by 33-50% in the 50%-infrastructure-scenario for Helsinki (over 1700 ha of roof-tops greened). The total additional costs are estimated amount from 600 million euros to 900 million euros in this hypothetical scenario.

We were able to find value estimates for most of the ecosystem services that green roofs can provide over their expected life span of 40 years. The future benefits have been discounted in to the present values with the discount rate of 3%.

- 1) Membrane longevity  $24 \notin m^2$
- 2) Sound insulation 0-20  $\notin/m^2$
- 3) Energy savings:
  - a. cooling  $1.9 \notin m^2 8.5 \notin m^2$
  - b. heating  $3.3 \notin m^2 24 \notin m^2$
- 4) Air-quality benefits (average benefits in Helsinki)  $4.8 \notin m^2 6.9 \notin m^2$
- 5) Storm-water management (average benefits in Helsinki) 1.9 €/m<sup>2</sup>-3.4 €/m<sup>2</sup>

Benefits were positively correlated with the outside temperature, as green roofs have a more significant effect on the energy demand for cooling than for heating, thus cooling savings increase faster than heating demand savings decrease. Benefits were also correlated with the level of precipitation and frequency of extreme downpours, and proximity to the city center. Thus, in the future, as climate change progresses and Helsinki attracts ever more habitants, the benefits are expected to increase. In addition to the estimated values, explanative quantitative analysis indicates that it is plausible that green roofs have a positive effect on the aesthetic quality of a city and increase urban biodiversity and thereby contribute to real estate value formation and has spillovers

effects on a whole neighborhood. Both of these aspects need to be included in the decision-making process in addition to the already quantified benefits.

Only a share of these benefits accrues to the owner of the property. These benefits are called private benefits which in the case of green roofs are membrane longevity, sound insulation and energy savings. The estimated B/C –ratio for a private building owner was between 0.5-1.1 (and in air traffic zones between 0.8 and 1.5). Consequently, in most cases the private benefits are not high enough to fully offset the additional costs of installation.

We also estimated the sum of private and public benefits in a hypothetical 50% green roofinfrastructure-scenario, in which half of total roof area in Helsinki is fitted with green roofs. High level of implementation would bring down the costs of green roofs and some benefits are expected to emerge only with a higher implementation rate. With such bold assumptions, the private B/C – ratio for green roof installation was 0.7-1.8 and the total B/C –ratio (private benefits + public benefits) was between 0.9 and 2.2 plus scenic value and biodiversity benefits.

The cost-benefit calculations hint that with a higher rate of implementation and realization of public benefits, the green roofs would be a good investment. However, because the private benefits are not high enough to justify a green roof installation for a private decision maker, the rate of implementation can be expected to stay low without corrective policy instruments. Policy instruments could include supportive policies that add incentives for private decision makers to install green roofs, such as storm-water fee reductions (already a reality in Vaasa) or real estate tax abatements. Essential is to introduce policies that transfer a part of the public benefits back to the green roof owner such that private benefits equal or surpass private costs. In addition a demonstrative program could help to drive down the costs. Another less recommended approach is to make green roofs are mandatory for specific building types or for specific areas. In Copenhagen for example, green roofs are mandatory in most of the new local plans for houses with a roof slope of less than 30 degrees and as a result more than 200,000 m<sup>2</sup> of green roofs are expected to be installed in the next years based on local plans approved in 2010 and 2011.

# ACKNOWLEGMENTS

We want to express our gratitude to the Urban Ecology Research Group at the University of Helsinki, and the Finnish Museum of Natural History for hosting the Fifth Dimension research program, and the Regional Council of Uusimaa for funding it and Heikki Tuomenvirta and Hanna Virta in FMI for reviewing the report.

# REFERENCES

Aaltonen, J.; Hohti, H.; Jylhä, K.; Karvonen, T.; Kilpeläinen, T.; Koistinen, J.; Kotro, J.; Kuitunen, T.; Ollila, M.; Parvio, A.; Pulkkinen, S.; Silander, J.; Tiihonen, T.; Tuomenvirta, H., Vajda, A. (2008) Rankkasateet ja taajamatulvat (RATU) (In Finnish only). Finland's environmental administration publications 31 / 2008

Breinneisen, S. (2006) Space for Urban Wildlife: Designing Green Roofs as Habitats in Switzerland, Urban Habitats vol. 4, pp. 27-36

Bolund, P.; Hunhammar, S. (1999) Ecosystem Services in Urban Areas, Ecological Economics vol. 29, pp. 293-301

Brouwer, R. (2012) Payments for Ecosystem services, Presentation slides from HENVI sciencedaysHelsinkihttp://www.helsinki.fi/henvi/yvv/sciencedays12/17042012\_05\_Brouwer.pdf

Carlsson-Kanyama A, Engström R, Kok R 2005. Indirect and Direct Energy Requirements of City Households in Sweden – Options for Reduction, Lessons from Modeling. Journal of Industrial Ecology, vol. 9, pp. 221–235

Cho, S.-H., Poudyal, N.C., Roberts, R.K. 2008. Spatial analysis of the amenity value of green open space, Ecological Economics vol. 66, pp. 403–416.

Clark, C., Adriaens, P.; Talbot, B. (2008) Green roof valuation: A Propabilistic Economic Analysis of Environmental Benefits, Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 42, pp. 2155-2161

Coffman, R., Waite, T. (2011) Vegetated Roofs as Reconciled Habitats: Rapid Assays Beyond Mere Species Counts, Urban Habitats, vol. 6. (Online)

Connelly, M., Baskaran, B. (2003) Thermal Performance of Green roofs through field evaluation, Proceedings for the First North American Green Roof Infrastructure Conference, Awards and Trade Show, Chicago, IL., May 29-30, 2003, pp. 1-10

Connelly, M., Liu, K. (2005) Green roof research in British Columbia – An overview In: Proceedings 3rd Annual Greening Rooftops for Sustainable Communities Conference, Awards & Trade Show, and Washington, DC. The Cardinal Group, Toronto.

Connelly, M., Hodgson, M. (2008) Thermal and Acoustical Performance of Green Roofs – Sound Transmission loss of Green Roofs, Greening Rooftops for sustainable communities – conference, awards and trade show, session 1.5 <u>http://commons.bcit.ca/greenroof/files/2012/01/2008\_grhc\_connelly\_hodgson.pdf</u>

Conway, D., Li, C.Q., Wolch, J., Kahle, C., Jerrett, M. 2010. A Spatial Autocorrelation Approach for Examining the Effects of Urban Greenspace on Residential Property Values. Journal of Real Estate & Financial Economics vol. 41, pp. 150–169.

Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P., van den Belt, M. (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital, Nature vol. 387, pp. 253–260

Currie, B., Bass, B. (2005) Estimate of air pollution mitigation with green plants and green roofs using the UFORE model, In Proceedings of Third Annual Greening Rooftops for Sustainable Communities Conference, Awards and Trade Show, Washington, DC, May 4-6, 2005

Deutsch, B., Whitlov, H. (2006) Re-greening Washington, DC: A Green Roof Vision Based on Quantifying Storm Water and Air Quality Benefits, available <u>http://www.greenroofs.org/resources/greenroofvisionfordc.pdf</u>

de Vries, S., Verheij, R., Groenewegen, P., Spreeuwenberg, P. (2003) Natural environments - healthy environments? Environment and Planning, vol. 35, pp. 1717–1731

Drebs, A. (2011) Helsingin lämpösaareke ajallisena ja paikallisena ilmiönä, Pro Gradu –thesis, University of Helsinki (only in Finnish)

Glaeser, A. (ed.) 2010, Agglomeration Economics, National Bureau of Economic Research NBER, The University of Chicago Press

Gollier, C.; Weitzman, M., (2010) How should the distant future be discounted when discount rates are uncertain? Economics Letters, vol. 107, pp. 350–353

Griliches, Z (1971) Price indexes and quality change: studies in new methods of measurement (Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA)

de Groot, R.; Wilson, M.; Boumans, R. (2002) A typology for the classification, description and valuation of ecosystem functions, goods and services, Ecological Economics, vol. 41, pp. 393-408

Earthcraft: http://www.earthcraft.org/

Fishman, R. (2003) Urban utopias: Ebenezer Howard, Frank Lloyd Wright, and Le Corbusier. In Feinstein S. and Campbell S. (ed.) *Readings in Planning Theory*, Blackwell, Malden, MA, pp. 21–60.

Finland's environmental administration (2012) Meluselvitykset 2012 (Noise Reports 2012, only in Finnish), <u>http://www.finavia.fi/ymparisto/ymparistojulkaisut/selvitykset</u>

Givoni, B. (1998) Climate Considerations in Building and Urban Design (Wiley, New York).

Grant, Gary (2006), Extensive Green Roofs in London, Urban Habitats, vol. 4., pp. 51-65

Hall, Peter (2002) Cities of Tomorrow: An Intellectual History of Urban Planning and Design on the twentieth Century, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed., Blackwell, Malden, MA.

Hartig, T., Mang, M., Evans, G. (1991) Restorative Effects of Natural Environment Experiences, Environment and Behavior, vol. 23, pp. 3-26

Hathaway, A.; Hunt, F.; Jennings, G. (2008) A field study of green roof hydrologic and water quality performance, American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers vol. 51, pp. 37-44

Hauru, K., Lehvävirta, S., Korpela, K., Kotze, J. (2012) Closure of view to the urban matrix has positive effects on perceived restorativeness in urban forests in Helsinki, Finland. Landscape and Urban Planning vol. 107, pp. 361-369.

Hedman, R., Jaszewski, A. (1984) Fundamentals of Urban Design (American Planning Association, Washington, DC).

Heinonen, T. (08.11.2012) Interview by Nurmi, V. (E-mail communication). Investment manager of The Environment Center of Helsinki Mr. Tuomo Heinonen

Helsinki, City of Helsinki, http://www.hsy.fi/vesi/Sivut/default.aspx

Jokisalo, J. (15.10.2012) Interview by Nurmi, V. (E-mail communication). Aalto Yliopisto Senior Researcher Juha Jokisalo

Jylhä, K., Ruosteenoja, K., Räisänen, J., Venäläinen, A., Tuomenvirta, H., Ruokolainen, L., Saku, S. ja Seitola, S. (2009) <u>Arvioita Suomen muuttuvasta ilmastosta sopeutumis-tutkimuksia varten.</u> <u>ACCLIM-hankkeen raportti 2009</u> (The changing climate in Finland: estimates for adaptation studies. ACCLIM project report 2009.) Ilmatieteen laitos, Raportteja 2009, vol 4, 102 pages. In Finnish, abstract, extended abstract and captions for figures and tables also in English)

Jylhä, K., Kalamees, T., Tietäväinen, H., Ruosteenoja, K., Jokisalo, J., Hyvönen, R., Ilomets, S., Saku, S., Hutila, A. (2012) Rakennusten energialaskennan testivuosi 2012 ja arviot ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutuksista, Ilmatieteen Laitos Raportteja 2011, vol. 6

Kadas, G. (2006) Rare invertebrates colonizing green roofs in London, Urban Habitats, vol. 4. pp. 66-86

Kahneman, D., Tversky, A. (1984) Choices, values and frames, American Psychologist, vol. 39, pp. 341–350

Kouvola,CityofKouvola,http://www.kouvola.fi/material/attachments/5nm0phRsx/63R3II4e0/hulevesikirje\_2011\_netti.pdf

Köhler, M. (2006) Long-Term Vegetation Research on Two Extensive Green Roofs in Berlin, Urban Habitats, vol. 4, pp. 3-26

Lagström, J. (2004) Do extensive green roofs reduce noise? www.greenroof.se, Publication No. 010

LEED, http://new.usgbc.org/leed/rating-systems

Lehtovuori, P., Havik, K. (2009). Alternative politics in urban innovation. In: Kong, Lily & O'Connor, Justin (eds.). Creative Economies, Creative Cities: Asian-European Perspectives. Springer Verlag, pp. 207-227

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) Current State and Trend Assessments, Full report, http://www.unep.org/maweb/en/Condition.aspx

Mentens, J. Raes, D. Hermy, M. (2006) Green roofs as a tool for solving the rainwater runoff problem in the urbanized 21st century?, Landscape and Urban Planning, vol. 77, pp. 217-226

MMLMaastotietokanta(2010)(Landinformationrecord)http://www.maanmittauslaitos.fi/digituotteet/maastotietokanta

Moran, A., Hunt, B., Jennings, G. (2004) A North Carolina field study to evaluate green roof runoff quantity, runoff quality, and plant growth. North Carolina State University, Department of Biological and Agricultural Engineering http://www.bae.ncsu.edu/greenroofs/GRHC2004paper.pdf

Newman P, Kenworthy J 2007. Sustainable Urban Form: Transport Infrastructure and Transport Policies. In: Gärling, Steg (eds.) Threats From Car Traffic to the Quality of Urban Life: Problems, Causes and Solutions, pp. 293-311. Elsevier Ltd., Oxford, UK.

Newman P, Kenworthy JR 1999. Sustainability and Cities: overcoming automobile dependence, Island Press, Washington DC.

Niemelä, J., Saarela, S., Söderman, T., Kopperoinen, L., Yli-Pelkonen, V., Väre, S., Kotze, D. (2010) Using the ecosystem services approach for better planning and conservation of urban green spaces: a Finland case study. Biodiversity and Conservation vol. 19, pp. 3225–3243

Nunes, P., van der Bergh, J. (2001) Economic valuation of biodiversity: Sense or nonsense? Ecological economics, vol. 39, pp. 203-222

Oberndorfer, E., Lundholm, J., Bass, B., Coffman, R., Doshi, H., Dunnett, N., Gaffin, S.; Köhler, M.; Liu, K. and Rowe, B. (2007) Green roofs as Urban Ecosystems: Ecological Structures, Functions and Services, Bioscience, vol. 57, pp. 823-833

Oke, T. (1973) City size and the urban heat island. Atmospheric Environment, vol. 7, pp. 769-779

Peck, S. (2003) Towards an Integrated Green Roof Infrastructure Evaluation for

Toronto. The Green Roof Infrastructure Monitor 5, no. 1: 4-5.

Philippi, P. (2006) How to get cost reductions in green roof construction, greening rooftops for sustainable communities, Conference from Boston, May 11-12, 2006

Price, C. (2008) Landscape economics at dawn: An eye-witness account, Landscape Research, vol. 33, pp. 263-280

Randall, A. (1988) What mainstream economists have to say about the value of biodiversity, Biodiversity chapter 25, The National Academies Press

Rees W, Wackernagel M 1996. Urban Ecology Footprints: Why Cities Cannot Be Sustainable – and Why They Are a Key to Sustainability. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, vol. 16, pp. 223–248.

Rosen, S. (1974) Hedonic prices and implicit markets: product differentiation in pure competition. Journal of Political Economy vol. 82, pp. 34–55.

Rosenzweig, C.; Gaffin, S. and Parshall, L.; (2006) Green Roofs in the New York Metropolitan Region: Research Report. Columbia University Center For Climate Systems Research and Nasa Goddard Institute for Space Studies. New York. 59 pages.

Ruuhela, R.; Lahtinen, M., Haga, L., Fronzek, S., Carter, T. (2012) Investigating the relationship between mortality and temperature and a possible acclimatization effect in Finland, poster at the Second Nordic International Conference on Climate Change Adaptation, Helsinki 29-31.8.2012http://www.nordicadaptation2012.net/Doc/Poster\_presentations/P31\_Ruuhela.pdf

Saiz, S.; Kennedy, Christopher, K.; Bass, B. and Presnail, K. (2006) Comparative Life Cycle Assessment of Standard and Green Roofs, Environment Science and Techonology. vol. 40, pp. 4312-4316

Seppänen, O. (2001) Rakennusten lämmitys (Heating of buildings, in Finnish) Suomen LVI-liitto ry. 2001.

Sheppard, S. (1999). Hedonic analysis of housing markets. In Mills, E.S. & Chesire, P. Handbook of Regional and Urban Economics, vol. 3, pp. 1595–1635

Söderman, T., Kopperoinen, L., Saarela, S.R., Yli-Pelkonen, V., Perrels, A. Rautiainen, J. Härkönen, M. 2011. Sustainability criteria and indicators – a tool for strategic urban planning, in Lakkala, H. and Vehmas, J. (eds.) Trends and Future of Sustainable Development, Conference Proceedings, pp. 43-54.

Takano, T.; Nakamura, K.; Watanabe, M. (2002) Urban residential environments and senior citizens' longevity in mega-city areas: the importance of walkable green space, Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, vol. 56, pp. 913–916.

Tan, P., Sia, A. (2005) A pilot green roof research project in Singapore, In Proceedings of Third Annual Greening Rooftops for Sustainable Communities Conference, Awards and Trade Show, Washington, DC, May 4-6, 2005

Tervonen, J., Ristikartano, J. (2010), Unit-costs of different cost elements in road traffic 2010 (in Finnish), Finnish Transport Agency, Liikenneviraston ohjeita 21/2010, Helsinki

Toronto and Region Conservation (2007) An economic analysis of Green Roofs: Evaluating the costs and savings to building owners in Toronto and surrounding regions

Turku, City of Turku, http://www.turku.fi/Public/?contentid=105860&nodeid=11878

Tyrväinen, L. (1997) The amenity value of the urban forest: an application of the hedonic pricing method, Landscape and Urban Planning, vol. 37, pp. 211-222.

Tyrväinen, L., Mietinen, A. (2000) Property prices and urban forest amenities, Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, vol. 39, pp. 205–223.

Tzoulas, K., Korpela, K., Venn, S., Yli-Pelkonen, V., Kazmierczak, A.; Niemelä, J.; James, P. (2007) Promoting ecosystem and human health in urban areas using Green Infrastructure: A literature review, Landscape and Urban Planning, vol. 81, pp. 167–178

Oberndorfer, E., Lundholm, J., Bass, B., Coffman, R., Doshi, H., Dunnett, N., Gaffin, S.; Köhler, M.; Liu K. and Rowe, B. (2007) Green Roofs as Urban Ecosystems: Ecological Structures, Functions, and Services, Bioscience, vol. 57, pp. 823-833

Vaasa, City of Vantaa, http://www.vaasanvesi.fi/Suomeksi/Hinnasto/Hulevesimaksu

Votsis, A. (2012) Planning a sustainable and climate-proof built environment: the special case of real estate value formation and residential qualities, poster at the Second Nordic International Conference on Climate Change Adaptation, Helsinki 29-31.8.2012

Votsis, A., Nurmi, V., & Perrels, A. (2013) Spatial effects of ecosystem service variation on urban real estate value under a changing climate, presentation at the First European Climate Change Adaptation Conference, Hamburg.

Walker B, Holling CS, Carpenter SR, Kinzig A 2004. Resilience, adaptability and transformabilityinsocial-ecologicalsystems.EcologyandSociety9:2.http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol9/iss2/art5/

Yang, J.; Yu, Q.; Gong, P. (2008) Quantifying air pollution removal by green roofs in Chicago, Atmospheric Environment vol. 42, pp. 7266–7273

Yli-Pelkonen V, Niemelä J 2006. Use of ecological information in urban planning: experiences from the Helsinki metropolitan area, Finland. Urban Ecosystems, vol. 9, pp. 211–226

Zinco (2012) Zinco company homepages www.zinco.de

#### RAPORTTEJA — RAPPORTER — REPORTS

- Savolainen, Anna Liisa et al., 1986. Radioaktiivisten aineiden kulkeutuminen Tshernobylin ydinvoimalaonnettomuuden aikana. Väliaikainen raportti. 39 s.
  - 2. Savolainen, Anna Liisa et al., 1986. Dispersion of radioactive release following the Chernobyl nuclear power plant accident. Interim report. 44 p.
  - 3. Ahti, Kari, 1986. Rakennussääpalvelukokeilu 1985-1986. Väliraportti Helsingin ympäristön talvikokeilusta 18.11.-13.3.1986. 26 s.
  - 4. Korhonen, Ossi, 1986. Pintatuulen vertailumittauksia lentoasemilla. 38 s.
- Karppinen, Ari et al., 1987. Description and application of a system for calculating radiation doses due to long range transport of radioactive releases. 50 p.
  - 2. Venäläinen, Ari, 1987. Ilmastohavaintoihin perustuva arvio jyrsinturpeen tuotantoedellytyksistä Suomessa. 35 s.
  - 3. Kukkonen, Jaakko ja Savolainen, Anna Liisa, 1987. Myrkyllisten kaasujen päästöt ja leviäminen onnettomuustilanteissa. 172 s.

- 4. Nordlund, Göran ja Rantakrans, Erkki, 1987. Matemaattisfysikaalisten ilmanlaadun arviointimallien luotettavuus. 29 s.
- 5. Ahti, Kari, 1987. Rakennussäätutkimuksen loppuraportti. 45 s.
- 6. Hakola, Hannele et al., 1987. Otsonin vaihteluista Suomessa yhden vuoden havaintoaineiston valossa. 64 s.
- 7. Tammelin, Bengt ja Erkiö, Eero, 1987. Energialaskennan säätiedot suomalainen testivuosi. 108 s.
- 1988: 1. Eerola, Kalle, 1988. Havaintojen merkityksestä numeerisessa säänennustuksessa. 36 s.
  - 2. Fredrikson, Liisa, 1988. Tunturisääprojekti 1986-1987. Loppuraportti. 31 s.
  - 3. Salmi, Timo and Joffre, Sylvain, 1988. Airborne pollutant measurements over the Baltic Sea: meteorological interpretation. 55 p.
  - 4. Hongisto, Marke, Wallin, Markku ja Kaila, Juhani, 1988. Rikkipäästöjen vähentämistoimenpiteiden taloudellisesti tehokas valinta. 80 s.
  - 5. Elomaa, Esko et al., 1988. Ilmatieteen laitoksen automaattisten merisääasemien käyttövarmuuden parantaminen. 55 s.
  - 6. Venäläinen, Ari ja Nordlund, Anneli, 1988. Kasvukauden ilmastotiedotteen sisältö ja käyttö. 63 s.
  - Nieminen, Rauno, 1988. Numeeristen paine- ja ja korkeuskenttäennusteiden objektiivinen verifiointisysteemi sekä sen antamia tuloksia vuosilta 1985 ja 1986. 35 s.

- 1989: 1. Ilvessalo, Pekko, 1989. Yksittäisestä piipusta ilmaan pääsevien epäpuhtauksien suurimpien tuntipitoisuuksien arviointimenetelmä. 21 s.
- 1992: 1. Mhita, M.S. and Venäläinen, Ari, 1991. The variability of rainfall in Tanzania. 32 p.
  - Anttila, Pia (toim.), 1992. Rikki- ja typpilaskeuman kehitys Suomessa 1980-1990. 28 s.
- Hongisto, Marke ja Valtanen Kalevi, 1993. Rikin ja typen yhdisteiden kaukokulkeutumismallin kehittäminen HIRLAM-sääennustemallin yhteyteen. 49 s.
  - Karlsson, Vuokko, 1993. Kansalliset rikkidioksidin analyysivertailut 1979 -1991. 27 s.
- 1994: 1. Komulainen, Marja-Leena, 1995. Myrsky Itämerellä 28.9.1994. Säätilan kehitys Pohjois-Itämerellä M/S Estonian onnettomuusyönä. 42 s.
  - 2. Komulainen, Marja-Leena, 1995. The Baltic Sea Storm on 28.9.1994. An investigation into the weather situation which developed in the northern Baltic at the time of the accident to m/s Estonia. 42 p.
- 1995: 1. Aurela, Mika, 1995. Mikrometeorologiset vuomittausmenetelmät sovelluksena otsonin mittaaminen suoralla menetelmällä. 88 s.
  - Valkonen, Esko, Mäkelä, Kari ja Rantakrans, Erkki, 1995. Liikenteen päästöjen leviäminen katukuilussa - AIG-mallin soveltuvuus maamme oloihin. 25 s.
  - 3. Virkkula, Aki, Lättilä, Heikki ja Koskinen, Timo, 1995. Otsonin

maanpintapitoisuuden mittaaminen UV-säteilyn absorbtiolla: DOASmenetelmän vertailu suljettua näytteenottotilaa käyttävään menetelmään. 29 s.

- 4. Bremer, Pia, Ilvessalo, Pekko, Pohjola, Veijo, Saari, Helena ja Valtanen, Kalevi, 1995. Ilmanlaatuennusteiden ja -indeksin kehittäminen Helsingin Käpylässä suoritettujen mittausten perusteella. 81 s.
- 1996: 1. Saari, Helena, Salmi, Timo ja Kartastenpää, Raimo, 1996. Taajamien ilmanlaatu suhteessa uusiin ohjearvoihin. 98 s.
- 1997: 1. Solantie, Reijo, 1997. Keväthallojen alueellisista piirteistä ja vähän talvipakkastenkin. 28 s.
- Paatero, Jussi, Hatakka, Juha and Viisanen, Yrjö, 1998. Concurrent measurements of airborne radon-222, lead-210 and beryllium-7 at the Pallas-Sodankylä GAW station, Northern Finland. 26 p.
  - 2. Venäläinen, Ari ja Helminen, Jaakko, 1998. Maanteiden talvikunnossapidon sääindeksi. 47 s.
  - Kallio, Esa, Koskinen, Hannu ja Mälkki, Anssi, 1998.
     VII Suomen avaruustutkijoiden COSPAR-kokous, Tiivistelmät. 40 s.
  - 4. Koskinen, H. and Pulkkinen, T., 1998. State of the art of space weather modelling and proposed ESA strategy. 66 p.
  - 5. Venäläinen, Ari ja Tuomenvirta Heikki, 1998. Arvio ilmaston läm- penemisen vaikutuksesta teiden talvikunnossapidon kustannuksiin. 19 s.
- 1999: 1. Mälkki, Anssi, 1999. Near earth electron environment modelling tool

user/software requirements document. 43 p.

- 2. Pulkkinen, Antti, 1999. Geomagneettisesti indusoituvat virrat Suomen maakaasuverkostossa. 46 s.
- 3. Venäläinen, Ari, 1999. Talven lämpötilan ja maanteiden suolauksen välinen riippuvuus Suomessa.16 s.
- Koskinen, H., Eliasson, L., Holback, B., Andersson, L., Eriksson, A., Mälkki, A., Nordberg, O., Pulkkinen, T., Viljanen, A., Wahlund, J.-E., Wu, J.-G., 1999. Space weather and interactions with scacecraft : spee final report. 191 p.
- 2000: 1. Solantie, Reijo ja Drebs, Achim, 2000. Kauden 1961 1990 lämpöoloista kasvukautena alustan vaikutus huomioiden, 38 s.
  - 2 Pulkkinen, Antti, Viljanen, Ari, Pirjola, Risto, and Bear working group, 2000. Large geomagnetically induced currents in the Finnish high-voltage power system. 99 p.
  - 3 Solantie, R. ja Uusitalo, K., 2000. Patoturvallisuuden mitoitussadannat: Suomen suurimpien 1, 5 ja 14 vrk:n piste- ja aluesadantojen analysointi vuodet 1959 - 1998 kattavasta aineistosta. 77 s.
  - 4 Tuomenvirta, Heikki, Uusitalo, Kimmo, Vehviläinen, Bertel, Carter, Timothy, 2000. Ilmastonmuutos, mitoitussadanta ja patoturvallisuus: arvio sadannan ja sen ääriarvojen sekä lämpötilan muutoksista Suomessa vuoteen 2100. 65 s.
  - 5 Viljanen, Ari, Pirjola, Risto and Tuomi, Tapio, 2000. Abstracts of the URSI XXV national convention on radio science. 108 p.
  - 6 Solantie, Reijo ja Drebs, Achim, 2000. Keskimääräinen vuoden ylin ja alin lämpötila Suomessa 1961 90. 31 s.
  - 7 Korhonen, Kimmo, 2000. Geomagneettiset mallit ja IGRF-appletti. 85 s.
- 2001: 1 Koskinen, H., Tanskanen, E., Pirjola, R., Pulkkinen, A., Dyer, C., Rodgers, D., Cannon, P., Mandeville, J.-C. and Boscher, D., 2001. Space weather effects catalogue. 41 p.

- Koskinen, H., Tanskanen, E., Pirjola, R., Pulkkinen, A., Dyer, C., Rodgers, D., Cannon, P., Mandeville, J.-C. and Boscher, D., 2001. Rationale for a european space weather programme. 53 p.
- 3 Paatero, J., Valkama, I., Makkonen, U., Laurén, M., Salminen, K., Raittila, J. and Viisanen, Y., 2001. Inorganic components of the ground-level air and meteorological parameters at Hyytiälä, Finland during the BIOFOR project 1998-1999. 48 p.
- 4 Solantie, Reijo, Drebs, Achim, 2001. Maps of daily and monthly minimum temperatures in Finland for June, July, and August 1961-1990, considering the effect of the underlying surface. 28 p.
- 5 Sahlgren, Vesa, 2001. Tuulikentän alueellisesta vaihtelusta Längelmävesi-Roine -järvialueella. 33 s.
- 6 Tammelin, Bengt, Heimo, Alain, Leroy, Michel, Rast, Jacques and Säntti, Kristiina, 2001. Meteorological measurements under icing conditions : EUMETNET SWS II project. 52 p.
- 2002: 1 Solantie, Reijo, Drebs, Achim, Kaukoranta, Juho-Pekka, 2002. Lämpötiloja eri vuodenaikoina ja eri maastotyypeissä Alajärven Möksyssä. 57 s.
  - Tammelin, Bengt, Forsius, John, Jylhä, Kirsti, Järvinen, Pekka, Koskela, Jaakko, Tuomenvirta, Heikki, Turunen, Merja A., Vehviläinen, Bertel, Venäläinen, Ari, 2002. Ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutuksia energiantuotantoon ja lämmitysenergian tarpeeseen. 121 s.
- 2003: 1. Vajda, Andrea and Venäläinen, Ari, 2003. Small-scale spatial variation of climate in northern Finland. 34 p.
  - 2. Solantie, Reijo, 2003. On definition of ecoclimatic zones in Finland. 44 p.
  - 3. Pulkkinen, T.I., 2003. Chapman conference on physics and modelling of the

inner magnetosphere Helsinki, Finland, August 25-29, 2003. Book of abstracts. 110 p.

4. Pulkkinen, T. I., 2003. Chapman conference on physics and modelling of the inner magnetosphere Helsinki, Finland, August

25 - 29, 2003. Conference program. 16 p.

- 5. Merikallio, Sini, 2003. Available solar energy on the dusty Martian atmosphere and surface. 84 p.
- 6. Solantie, Reijo, 2003. Regular diurnal temperature variation in the Southern and Middle boreal zones in Finland in relation to the production of sensible heat. 63 p.
- 2004: 1. Solantie, Reijo, Drebs, Achim and Kaukoranta, Juho-Pekka, 2004.

Regular diurnal temperature variation in various landtypes in the Möksy experimental field in summer 2002, in relation to the production of sensible heat. 69 p.

- 2. Toivanen, Petri, Janhunen, Pekka and Koskinen, Hannu, 2004. Magnetospheric propulsion (eMPii). Final report issue 1.3. 78 p.
- 3. Tammelin, Bengt et al., 2004. Improvements of severe weather measurements and sensors EUMETNET SWS II project. 101 p.
- 4. Nevanlinna, Heikki, 2004. Auringon aktiivisuus ja maapallon lämpötilan vaihtelut 1856 2003. 43 s.
- 5. Ganushkina, Natalia and Pulkkinen, Tuija, 2004. Substorms-7: Proceedings of the 7th International Confrence on Substorms. 235 p.
- 6. Venäläinen, Ari, Sarkkula, Seppo, Wiljander, Mats, Heikkinen, Jyrki, Ervasto, Erkki, Poussu, Teemu ja Storås, Roger, 2004. Espoon kaupungin talvikunnossapidon sääindeksi. 17 s.
- Paatero, Jussi and Holmen, Kim (eds.), 2004. The First Ny-Ålesund Pallas-Sodankylä atmospheric research workshop, Pallas, Finland 1 - 3 March 2004 -Extended abstracts. 61 p.

- 8. Holopainen, Jari, 2004. Turun varhainen ilmastollinen havaintosarja. 59 s.
- 2005: 1. Ruuhela, Reija, Ruotsalainen, Johanna, Kangas, Markku, Aschan, Carita, Rajamäki, Erkki, Hirvonen, Mikko ja Mannelin, Tarmo, 2005. Kelimallin kehittäminen talvijalankulun turvallisuuden parantamiseksi. 47 s.
  - Laurila, Tuomas, Lohila, Annalea, Tuovinen, Juha-Pekka, Hatakka, Juha, Aurela, Mika, Thum, Tea, Walden, Jari, Kuronen, Pirjo, Talka, Markus, Pesonen, Risto, Pihlatie, Mari, Rinne, Janne, Vesala, Timo, Ettala, Matti, 2005. Kaatopaikkojen kaasupäästöjen ja haihdunnan mikrometeorologisten mittausmenetelmien kehittäminen (MIKROMETKAA). Tekesin Streams – ohjelman hankken loppuraportti. 34 s. (Ei julkaistu – Not published)
  - Siili, Tero, Huttunen, Emilia, Koskinen, Hannu ja Toivanen, Petri (toim.), 2005. Kymmenes Suomen avaruustutkijoiden kokous (FinCospar) Kokousjulkaisu. 57 s.
  - 4. Solantie, Reijo and Pirinen, Pentti, 2005. Diurnal temperature variation in inversion situations. 34 s.
  - Venäläinen, Ari, Tuomenvirta, Heikki, Pirinen, Pentti and Drebs, Achim, 2005. A basic Finnish climate data set 1961 – 2000 – description and illustrations. 24 p.
  - Tammelin, Bengt, Säntti, Kristiina, Dobech, Hartwig, Durstewich, Michel, Ganander, Hans, Kury, Georg, Laakso, Timo, Peltola, Esa, Ronsten, Göran, 2005. Wind turbines in icing environment: improvement of tools for siting, certification and operation – NEW ICETOOLS. 127 p.
- 2006: 1. Mälkki, Anssi, Kauristie, Kirsti and Viljanen Ari, 2006. Auroras Now! Final Report, Volume I. 73 p.
  - 2. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2006. Nurmijärvi Geophysical

Observatory : Magnetic results 2003. 47 p.

- 3. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2006. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2004. 47 p.
- 4. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2006. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2005. 49 p.
- Viljanen, A. (toim.), 2006. Sähkömagnetiikka 2006. Tiivistelmät Abstracts. 30 s.
- 6. Tuomi, Tapio J. & Mäkelä, Antti, 2006. Salamahavainnot 2006 Lightning observations in Finland, 2006. 39 p.
- 7 Merikallio, Sini, 2006. Preliminary report of the analysis and visualisation software for SMART-1 SPEDE and EPDP instruments. 70 p.
- 8 Solantie, Reijo, Pirinen, Pentti, 2006. Orografian huomioiminen lokahuhtikuun sademäärien alueellisissa analyyseissä. 34 s.
- 9 Ruosteenoja, Kimmo, Jylhä, Kirsti, Räisänen, Petri, 2006. Climate projections for the Nordic CE project – an analysis of an extended set of global regional climate model runs. 28 p.
- 10 Merikallio, Sini, 2006. Analysis and visualisation software for DEMETER Langmuir Probe instrument. 31 p.
- Solantie, Reijo, Järvenoja, Simo, Pirinen, Pentti, 2007. Keskimääräisten kuukauden minimilämpötilojen alueellinen jakauma kautena 1992 – 2005 Suomessa sekä muutos kaudesta 1961 – 1990. 59 s.
  - Pulkkinen, Tuija, Hari, Ari-Matti, Haukka, Harri, Leinonen, Jussi, Toivanen, Petri, Koskinen, Hannu, André, Mats, Balasis, Georgios, Boscher, Daniel, Dandouras, Iannis, Grande, Mauel, De Keyser, John, Glassmeier, Karl-Heinz, Hapgood, Mike, Horne, Richard, Ivchenko, Nikolay, Santolik, Ondrej, Torkar,

Klaus; Trotignon, Jean Gabriel, Vennerstrøm, Susanne, 2007. Waves and acceleration of relativistic particles (WARP). 36 p.

- Harri, A-M., Leinonen, J., Merikallio, S., Paton, M., Haukka, H., Polkko, J., Linkin, V., Lipatov, V., Pichkadze, K., Polyakov, A., Uspensky, M., Vasquez, L., Guerrero, H., Crisp, D., Haberle, R., Calcutt, S., Wilson, C., Taylor, P., Lange, C., Daly, M., Richter, L., Jaumann, R., Pommereau, J-P., Forget, F., Lognonne, Ph., Zarnecki, J., 2007. MetNet – In situ observational network and orbital platform to investigate the Martian environment. 35 p.
- 4. Venäläinen, Ari, Saku, Seppo, Kilpeläinen, Tiina, Jylhä, Kirsti, Tuomenvirta, Heikki, Vajda, Andrea, Räisänen, Jouni, Ruosteenoja, Kimmo, 2007. Sään ääriilmiöistä Suomessa. 81 s.
- 5. Tuomi, Tapio J. & Mäkelä, Antti, 2007. Salamahavainnot 2007 Lightning observations in Finland, 2007. 47 p.
- 6. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2007. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2006. 49 p.
- 2008: 1. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2008. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2007. 49 p.
  - 2. Verronen, Pekka T. (ed), 2008. 1<sup>st</sup> international HEPPA workshop 2008, Book of abstracts. 81 p.
  - Gregow, Hilppa, Venäläinen, Ari, Laine, Mikko, Niinimäki, Niina, Seitola, Teija, Tuomenvirta, Heikki, Jylhä, Kirsti, Tuomi, Tapio ja Mäkelä, Antti, 2008. Vaaraa aiheuttavista sääilmiöistä Suomen muuttuvassa ilmastossa. 99 s.
  - 4. Tuomi, Tapio J. & Mäkelä, Antti, 2008. Salamahavainnot 2008 Lightning observations in Finland, 2008. 49 p.

- 5. Heino, Raino and Tolonen-Kivimäki, Outi (eds), 2008. Finnish national report on systematic observations for climate 2008. 27 p.
- 6. Paatero, Jussi et al., 2008. Effects of Kola air pollution on the environment in the western part of the Kola peninsula and Finnish Lapland : final report. 26 p.
- 2009: 1. Nevanlinna, H., 2009. Geomagnetismin ABC-kirja. 204 s.
  - 2. Nevanlinna, H. (toim.), 2009. Ilmatieteen laitos 170 vuotta, 1838 2008. 69 s.
  - 3. Nevanlinna, Heikki, 2009. Revontulihavainnot Suomessa 1748 2009. 88 s.
  - 4. Jylhä, K., Ruosteenoja, K., Räisänen, J., Venäläinen, A., Tuomenvirta, H., Ruokolainen, L., Saku, S. ja Seitola, T., 2009. Arvioita Suomen muuttuvasta ilmastosta sopeutumistutkimuksia varten. ACCLIM-hankkeen raportti 2009. 102 p.
  - 5. Mäkelä, Antti & Tuomi, Tapio, J., 2009. Salamahavainnot 2009 Lightning observations in Finland, 2009. 51 p.
  - 6. Verronen, Pekka (ed.), 2009. 5<sup>th</sup> International Atmospheric Limb Conference and Workshop : Book of abstracts. 92 p.
  - 7. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2009. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2008. 48 p.
  - Kersalo, Juha and Pirinen, Pentti (eds), 2009. Suomen maakuntien ilmasto. 185 s.
- 2010: 1. Rauhala, Jenni & Mäntyniemi, Päivi, 2010. Luonnononnettomuuksien vaikutus ja niihin vaikuttaminen. (valmisteilla).
  - Pilli-Sihvola, K. Löwendahl, E., Ollikainen, M., van Oort, B., Rummukainen, M. & Tuomenvirta, H., 2010. Survey on the use of climate scenarios and climate change research information in decision making in Finland, Sweden and Norway. Report for the project Climate change adaption in Norway, Sweden and Finland – do research, policy and practice meet? (CARePol). 57 p.

- 3. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2010. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2009. 48 p.
- Luomaranta, A., Haapala, J., Gregow, H., Ruosteenoja, K., Jylhä, K. and Laaksonen, A. 2010. Itämeren jääpeitteen muutokset vuoteen 2050 mennessä. 23 s.
- 5. Mäkelä, Antti, 2010. Salamahavainnot 2010 Lightning observations in Finland, 2010. 50 p.
- Saku, Seppo; Solantie, Reijo, Jylhä, Kirsti, Venäläinen, Ari, Valta, Hannu, 2011. Äärilämpötilojen alueellinen vaihtelu Suomessa. 92 p.
  - 2. Pajunpää, K. and Nevanlinna, H. (eds), 2011. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2010. 49 p.
  - 3. Virta, Hanna et al., 2011. Ilmastonmuutoksen ääri-ilmiöihin liittyvän riskienhallinnan kustannushyötyanalyysi osana julkista päätöksentekoa (IRTORISKI). 97 s.
  - 4. Nevanlinna, H. 2011. Magneettiset havainnot Helsingin magneettismeteorologisessa observatoriossa, 1844-1910. 54 s.
  - Gregow, Hilppa, Ruosteenoja, Kimmo, Juga, Ilkka, Näsman, Sigbritt, Mäkelä, Miika, Laapas, Mikko, Jylhä, Kirsti, 2011. Lumettoman maan routaolojen mallintaminen ja ennustettavuus muuttuvassa ilmastossa. 45 s.
  - Jylhä, Kirsti, Kalamees, Targo, Tietäväinen, Hanna, Ruosteenoja, Kimmo, Jokisalo, Juha, Hyvönen, Reijo, Ilomets, Simo, Saku, Seppo, Hutila, Asko, 2011. Rakennusten energialaskennan testivuosi 2012 ja arviot ilmastonmuutoksen vaikutuksista. 110 s.
  - 7. Mäkelä, Antti, 2011. Salamahavainnot 2011 Lightning observations in Finland, 2011.
  - 8. Riihelä. Aku, Lahtinen, Panu, Hakala, Teemu, 2011. Radiation, snow characteristics and albedo at Summit (RASCALS) expedition report. 48 p.

- 9. Vajda, A. et al., 2011. Probabilities of adverse weather affecting transport in Europe : climatology and scenarios up to the 2050s. 85 p.
- Lehto, J., Paatero, J., Koivula, R., Solin, O., Ikäheimonen, T.K., Kekki, T. & Lahtinen, M. (toim.), 2011. Marie Curie symposium 8.-9.12.2011 Helsingissä : Tiivistelmät. 75 s.
- Pirinen, P., Simola, H., Aalto, J., Kaukoranta, J-P., Karlsson, P., Ruuhela, R., 2012. Tilastoja Suomen ilmastosta 1981 – 2010, 83 s.
  - Harri, A-M., Schmidt, W., Romero, P., Vázquez, L., Barderas, G., Kemppinen, O., Aguirre, C., Vázquez-Poletti, J. L., Llorente, I. M., Haukka, H. and Paton, M., 2012, Phobos eclipse detection on Mars : theory and Practice. 35p.
  - 3. Nevanlinna, H., 2012. Auringon aktiivisuus ja ilmastonmuutos. 41 s.
  - 4. Pajunpää, K., Häkkinen, L., (eds), 2012. Nurmijärvi Geophysical Observatory : Magnetic results 2011. 51 p.
- Ruosteenoja, K., Jylhä, K., Mäkelä, H., Hyvönen, R., Pirinen, P., Lehtonen, I., 2013. Rakennusfysiikan testivuosien sääaineistot havaitussa ja arvioidussa tulevaisuuden ilmastossa : REFI-B-hankkeen tuloksia. 48 s.
  - 2. Nurmi, V., Votsis, A., Perrels, A., Lehvävirta, S. 2013. Cost-benefit analysis of green roofs in urban areas: case study in Helsinki. 58 s.